

THESIS

USING ¹³CO₂ PULSE-LABELLING TO TRACK CARBON FROM PHOTOSYNTHATES TO LATEX IN RUBBER TREES (*HEVEA BRASILIENSIS* MUELL.ARG)

ORNUMA DUANGNGAM

GRADUATE SCHOOL, KASETSART UNIVERSITY Academic Year 2022

THESIS APPROVAL GRADUATE SCHOOL, KASETSART UNIVERSITY

DEGREE: MAJOR FIE DEPARTME	Doctor of Philosophy (Horticulture) LD: Horticulture NT: Horticulture		
TITLE:	LE: Using ¹³ CO ₂ Pulse-Labelling to Track Carbon from Photosynthates to Latex in Rubber Trees (<i>Hevea brasiliensis</i> Muell.Arg)		
NAME:	ME: Miss Ornuma Duangngam		
THIS THESI	S HAS BEEN ACCEPTED BY		
		THESIS ADVISOR	
	Professor Poonpipope Kasemsap, Ph.D.)		
		THESIS CO-ADVISOR	
	(Professor Daniel Epron, Ph.D.)		
		THESIS CO-ADVISOR	
	(Mr. Philippe Thaler, Ph.D.)		
		THESIS CO-ADVISOR	
(A	ssociate Professor Dorine Desalme, Ph.D.)		
		DEPARTMENT HEAD	
(Assoc	ate Professor Patchareeya Boonkorkaew, Ph.D.)		
		DEAN	
(A	ssociate Professor Srijidtra Charoenlarpnopparut,	Ph.D.)	

THESIS

USING ¹³CO₂ PULSE-LABELLING TO TRACK CARBON FROM PHOTOSYNTHATES TO LATEX IN RUBBER TREES (*HEVEA BRASILIENSIS* MUELL.ARG)

ORNUMA DUANGNGAM

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Horticulture) Graduate School, Kasetsart University Academic Year 2022 Ornuma Duangngam: Using ¹³CO₂ Pulse-Labelling to Track Carbon from Photosynthates to Latex in Rubber Trees (*Hevea brasiliensis* Muell.Arg). Doctor of Philosophy (Horticulture), Major Field: Horticulture, Department of Horticulture. Thesis Advisor: Professor Poonpipope Kasemsap, Ph.D. Academic Year 2022

Rubber trees are the main source of natural rubber, extracted from the latex that exudes from the trunk after tapping. Tapped trees require large amounts of carbon (C) to regenerate latex, which represent an additional C demand because of the amount of latex that flows out and the richness in C of rubber. Therefore, C supply is key for sustainable latex production, but the source of latex C remains poorly known. Does it come directly from the leaves where CO₂ is assimilated or from starch stored in the wood? Pulse labelling trees with ${}^{13}CO_2$ are valuable approaches to study carbon allocation; however, it is challenging for trees in the field. Thus, the objectives of this study were to determine the contribution of C sources in latex biosynthesis (recent photosynthates versus stored carbohydrates) and if there is a shift in their respective contribution and in C dynamics during the tapping period. Large temperature-controlled chambers $(35-45 \text{ m}^3)$ that enclosed the entire crown of a tree, provided a reliable estimate of tree crown photosynthesis, and ensured efficient ¹³CO₂ labelling were developed and tested. Whole tree crowns of 4-year-old rubber trees were pulse-labelled with ¹³CO₂ for 30–40 minutes. Labelling was performed in June when latex production was low (start of tapping) and in October, when it was high. The ¹³C contents were quantified in the foliage, phloem sap, latex and trunk wood. The labelling experiment showed that, in both labelling periods, ¹³C was recovered in the latex just after labelling, indicating that part of the photosynthates were directly allocated to latex. However, significant amounts of 13 C were still recovered in latex after 60 days and the peak was reached significantly later than in phloem sap, demonstrating the contribution of a 'reserve' pool as another source of latex C. In June, the latex C came from a pool where recent C (photosynthates) mixed with older C (stored starch) but a significant part of recent C was nevertheless invested in storage. In contrast, in October, the recovery of ¹³C was faster and stronger in latex, indicating a high contribution of recent C coming directly from leaf photosynthesis. The contribution of new photosynthates to latex regeneration was therefore faster and higher when the latex metabolism was well established in October compared to June. To conclude, ¹³C pulse-labelling proved efficient to study the origin of the latex C. Overall, latex C comes from a pool where newly assimilated C mixes with older one, but their respective contribution varies seasonally. An improved understanding of C dynamics and source-sink relationships in rubber trees is crucial to adapt tapping system practices and ensure sustainable latex production.

Student's signature

Thesis Advisor's signature

___/ ____/ ____

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my thesis advisors: Professor Poonpipope Kasemsap, Professor Daniel Epron, Dr. Philippe Thaler and Associate Professor Dorine Desalme who provide valuable supervision, suggestions, support, guidance, criticism and encouragement throughout the period of my study.

I am grateful to all professors and friends both at Kasetsart University and Université de Lorraine, DORAS center, CIRAD and INRA for good cooperative works. And I would like to thank the staff at the Chachoengsao Rubber Research Centre for their warm welcome and for taking good care of me all along my experiments. I also thank the certified facility in SILVATECH (Silvatech, INRAE, 2018. Structural and functional analysis of tree and wood Facility, doi: 10.15454/1.5572400113627854E12) for the isotope analyses. The study was conducted in the framework of the Hevea Research Platform in Partnership (HRPP, http://hrpp.ac.ku.th) and supported by Thai and French funds: PHC SIAM (33840NG), the French National Research Agency (Heveadapt Project ANR – 14 - CE03 – 0012), IFC (Institut Français du Caoutchouc), Kasetsart University Research and Development Institute (KURDI) and DORAS Center. OD was supported for 11 months by a grant from Erasmus+ International Mobilities (2017-1 FR01-KA107-036836) offered by Montpellier SupAgro, with the financial support of the European Union and the French Agency Erasmus+ Education and Training.

Finally, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my father, mother, brother and friends for their constant encouragement throughout my research period.

Ornuma Duangngam

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACTC		
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSD		
TABLE OF CONTENTS E		
LIST OF TABLESF		
LIST OF FIGURES		
INTRODUCTION		
OBJECTIVES		
LITERATURE REVIEW7		
Carbon allocation and plant production7		
Importance of natural rubber in Thailand8		
The rubber tree9		
Latex		
Tapping and tapping system13		
Carbon allocation and rubber productivity16		
13 C carbon isotope and its composition (δ^{13} C) in plants		
Labelling with stable isotopes19		
Carbon isotope composition (δ^{13} C) in rubber trees		
MATERIALS AND METHODS		
1. Materials23		
2. Methodology24		
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION		
CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS		
LITERATURE CITED77		
CURRICULUM VITAE		

LIST OF TABLES

Page

Table 1 Growth characteristics of six rubber trees pulse-labelled with 13 CO ₂ in June, 2016 (#1–#3) and in October, 2016 (#4–#6) and non-labelled rubber tree (#7)26
Table 2 The meteorological conditions recorded on the day of labelling. Mean airtemperature (Tair), mean relative air humidity (RH) and mean photosyntheticallyactive radiation (PAR). Subscripts In and Out mean inside and outside the chamber,respectively
Table 3 Isotope composition (δ^{13} C) of leaves collected immediately after labelling (mean ± standard error for 4 composite leaf samples for each tree) and excess ¹³ C in whole foliage of trees, $x^{E}(^{13}C)$, for 3 trees labelled in June, 2016 and 3 trees labelled in October, 2016. Numbers in bracket represent efficiency of labelling, calculated as ratio between $x^{E}(^{13}C)$ and the amount of ¹³ C injected in chamber. Differences between June and October tested using mixed-effect model with tree as random effect for $\delta^{13}C$ and linear model for, $x^{E}(^{13}C)$
Table 4 Kinetic parameters of short-term ¹³ C dynamics in different compartments of the rubber tree : total organic matter of leaves (bulk leaf), leaf polar fraction including soluble sugars, amino, and organic acids (leaf PF), bark extracts, serum, and trunk PF after ¹³ C pulse labelling in June, 2016 and October, 2016
Table 5 Kinetic parameters of short-term ¹³ C dynamics in latex and rubber in the rubber tree after ¹³ C pulse labelling in June, 2016 (Jun) and October, 2016 (Oct)65

LIST OF FIGURES

Page

Figure 1 The general organization of the trunk bark and wood of <i>Hevea brasiliensis</i> Muell.Arg. at the tapping cut site; (C) cambium, (CP) conducting phloem, (ISB) inner soft bark, (L) laticiferous vessels, (OHB) outer hard bark, (SX) secondary xylem and (VR) vascular ray
Figure 2 Latex of <i>Hevea brasiliensis</i> Muell.Arg. seen at various scales. (A) Picture of a cup of latex in a rubber tree field at the macroscale. (B) Schematic view of the latex at the mesoscale showing lutoids, rubber particles and Frey-Wyssling particles dispersed in the aqueous C-serum. (C) Schematic views of the major constituents of latex at the microscale: a lutoid and a rubber particle. The diagrams in (B) and (C) are not drawn to scale
Figure 3 The rubber tree (4 year old) and the rubber plantation (RRIT 408 clone) used for the experiment at the Chachoengsao Rubber Research Center (CRRC),
Chachoengsao province, Thailand
Figure 4 Meteorological conditions during the course of the experiment. (A) Rainfall, (B) mean daily air temperature (black line), minimum and maximum daily air temperature (grey lines) and (C) daily global radiation. Black and grey horizontal bars depict the two labelling periods in June and in October during which three trees were labelled sequentially. Labelling dates for each tree are listed in Table 1 and Table 2. The empty horizontal bars indicate the period from leaf fall until new leaves become mature (January–March 2017). Vertical dashed lines indicate the period when trees were not tapped (tapping rest; February–April 2017)
Figure 5 Mean monthly latex production throughout the experiment. Vertical bars represent means \pm standard errors (n=12 trees)28
Figure 6 Overview of the large closed-chamber designed to field measure photosynthesis of whole tree crowns and pulse label trees with ¹³ CO ₂ , installed on a rubber tree
Figure 7 Schematic diagram of overview of large closed-chamber designed for field measurement of photosynthesis of whole tree crown and to pulse label tree with ¹³ CO ₂ . Chamber made of 150 µm-thick transparent polyethylene film and attached to scaffolds surrounding the tree excluded for clarity. Air cooling ensured by air conditioning unit and air mixing using two axial fans and two air blowers inside

chamber. Sensors measuring air temperature, humidity, and photosynthetic photon

flux density installed inside and outside the chamber and connected to datalogger. CO ₂ concentration inside the chamber is measured using infrared gas analyzer. ¹³ CO ₂ from gas cylinder injected into labelling chamber just above air blower, using rotameter and primary air flow meter. Drawing by Jate Sathornkich and Thippawan Angsiri
Figure 8 The large closed-chamber designed for field measurement. (A) The scaffolds were placed surrounding the rubber tree. Air conditioning unit, two axial fans, two air blowers and sensors (air temperature, humidity, and PPFD) were installed inside chamber frame. (B) The cubic shape of chamber made of 150 μ m-thick transparent polyethylene film, which was pulled tightly over the top of canopy and chamber support frame. The size of the chamber support frame was adjusted to fit the size of each crown. (C) The floor of the chamber was sealed with the chamber walls using clips and duct tape
Figure 9 The control system and data logger to measure tree crown CO ₂ exchange rates and pulse-label trees with ¹³ CO ₂
Figure 10 (A–C) Air cooling ensured by air conditioning unit, (B) the compressor part was placed outside chamber but (C) the cooling part and (D) air mixing using two air blowers were placed inside chamber
Figure 11 ¹³ CO ₂ from gas cylinder was constantly injected into the labelling chamber using a primary air flow meter at a rate adjusted to balance the estimated net rate of CO ₂ consumption by crown photosynthesis
Figure 12 Sensors measuring air temperature and humidity below canopy (left), and photosynthetic photon flux density above canopy (right)
Figure 13 Leaf photosynthesis of rubber tree by using a portable gas exchange analyzer (Li6400XT; LI-COR Lincoln, NE, USA)
Figure 14 Bark sampling (left), a piece of bark was collected from each tree at a
height of 180 cm above the ground and was infused in 2 mL of distilled water (right).
Figure 15 Latex sampling, trunk latex was collected by inserting a small plastic cannula into the bark of the trunk 5 cm below the tapping cut
Figure 16 Trunk wood sampling, trunk cores were taken at a height of 170–180 cm above the ground with a wood auger (left), a piece of sample was 0.5 cm diameter, 3.5 cm long including 0.5 cm of bark and 3 cm of wood (right)42

Figure 17 Isotope Ratio Mass Spectrometer (IsoPrime 100, IsoPrime Ltd, UK)44

and used to calculate crown photosynthesis (P_{crown}) based on Equation 3. Measurement made on June 14 on tree (#7 in Table 1) not labelled with ¹³CO₂.......50 Figure 20 Decrease in CO₂ concentration in chamber for 10–20 minutes after closure and before injecting ¹³CO₂. Closed circles are measurements and solid lines are adjusted linear relationships between time and CO₂ concentrations. Trees #1 – #3

derivative of third-degree polynomial function fitted to decrease in CO₂ concentration

Figure 18 Air temperature (T_{air}), relative humidity (RH), and photosynthetic photon flux density (PPFD) recorded inside (solid lines) and outside (dotted lines) closed chamber. Trees #1 – #3 measured in June and trees #4 – #6 were measured in October. Black horizontal bar at top of each panel indicates when crown CO₂ exchange rate

 Figure 26 Schematic representation of the allocation of the recently assimilated C (traced under the form of ¹³C) in the trunk among soluble compounds (soluble ¹³C), growth (structural ¹³C), storage (carbohydrate reserve ¹³C), and latex production (latex ¹³C) in rubber trees (*Hevea brasiliensis* Muell.Arg.), in June (A) and in October (B).

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

A	Net CO ₂ assimilation rates (µmol CO ₂ m ⁻² s ⁻¹)
AL	Total leaf area (m ²)
B _L	Total leaf biomass (kg)
С	Carbon content on a mass basis (%)
C1	The initial amount of label assigned to a rapid turnover ${}^{13}C$
	pool (mg 13 C g ⁻¹ C)
C2	The amount of label assigned to a slow turnover $^{13}\mathrm{C}$ pool (mg
	¹³ C g ⁻¹ C)
C ₁₇₀	The trunk girth at 1.7 m from the ground
Ca	Ambient CO ₂ concentration
Ci	Intercellular CO ₂ concentration
E	Transpiration rate (mm day ⁻¹)
ET	Evapotranspiration (mm)
GPP	Gross primary production (kgC m ⁻²)
IWUE	Inherent water use efficiency (kgC kPa m ⁻² mm ⁻¹)
LMA	Leaf mass per area (kg/m ²)
LP	Labelling Period (June and October, 2016)
MRT	The mean residence time (days).
Ν	Nitrogen content on a mass basis (%)
Patm	The atmospheric pressure (Pa)
Pcrown	Net crown CO ₂ exchange rates (μ mol tree ⁻¹ s ⁻¹)
Pleaft	Net leaf CO ₂ exchange rates (μ mol CO ₂ m ⁻² s ⁻¹)
PAR	Photosynthetically active radiation (μ mol m ⁻² s ⁻¹)
PF	Polar fraction (soluble sugar and amino acid)
PPFD	Photosynthetic photon flux density (μ mol m ⁻² s ⁻¹)
R	The ideal gas constant (8.314 J K ⁻¹ mol ⁻¹)
R _{sample}	The ratio of ${}^{13}C$ to ${}^{12}C$ in the sample (plant material)
R _{standard}	The ratio of ${}^{13}C$ to ${}^{12}C$ in the standard

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS (Continued)

$ m RH_{in}$	Relative air humidity inside chamber (%)	
RH _{out}	Relative air humidity outside chamber (%)	
VPD	Daylight vapour pressure deficit (kPa)	
VPDB	Vienna Pee Dee Belemnite reference	
T _{air}	Air temperature (°C)	
T _{in}	Air temperature inside chamber (°C)	
T _{out}	Air temperature outside chamber (°C)	
Trunk CR	Carbohydrate reserves in trunk wood (mostly starch)	
Trunk PF	Polar fraction in trunk wood (soluble sugar and amino acid)	
Trunk ST	Structural compounds in trunk wood	
$x(^{13}C)$	The ¹³ C atom fraction	
$x^E(^{13}C) =$	The excess ${}^{13}C(mg {}^{13}C {}^{-1} dry mass)$	
$\Delta^{13}C$	Carbon isotope discrimination (‰)	
$\delta^{13}C$	Carbon isotope composition (‰)	
δ_{air}	Carbon isotope composition of CO ₂ in the atmosphere (‰)	
δ_{plant}	Carbon isotope composition of the plant organic matter (‰)	

INTRODUCTION

The rubber tree (*Hevea brasiliensis* Muell.Arg.) is the only commercial source of natural rubber. World production of natural rubber was 14.6 million tons in 2022 (IRSG 2023), mostly in Asia (> 90%). Thailand is the world's number one natural rubber producer with 4.85 million tons and exporter with about 3.86 million tons, which accounted for 36% of global natural rubber production. It represents the second world's rubber plantation area with 3.95 million ha reported by the Rubber Authority of Thailand (RAOT) in 2022. Natural rubber usually contains about 25–50 % dry matter. It is obtained after coagulation of the latex, the cytoplasm of laticifer vessels, which are arranged in concentric rings near the phloem in the inner bark. The latex exudes from any injured organs, particularly from the trunk after the bark is cut (Hébant and De Fay 1980). Large quantities of latex can be collected from the trunk by regular tapping. Latex contains mainly rubber particles (~30–50% w/w fresh latex; 87 % w/w dry latex) dispersed in the cytoplasmic serum (Hepper and Audley 1969).

In terms of composition, the latex mostly consists of cis-1,4-polyisoprene which represents about 35 % of its fresh weight or 87 % of its dry weight. The remaining 5–6 % w/w fresh latex or 13 % w/w dry latex are non-isoprene molecules such as lipids, proteins, carbohydrates and minerals (d'Auzac 1989; Bottier 2020; Sakdapipanich 2007). Latex and rubber particles are then made of a large proportion of carbon (C).

Latex is extracted using a multi-annual tapping system that can continue for 15–30 years by regular tapping of the tree bark, after an initial unproductive period of 5–9 years called the immature phase, depending on the clone used and on the environmental conditions (Paardekooper, 1989; Vrignon-Brenas et al. 2019). Rubber tapping is the method of bark incision to extract the latex from laticiferous vessels located in the phloem of the bark. In Thailand, different tapping systems are used in each region (Chantuma et al. 2011, 2017; Doungmusik and Sdoodee 2012; Obouayeba et al. 2009; Sainoi et al. 2017; Soumahin and Obouayeba 2009). Following tapping, the exuded latex is regenerated *in situ*.

In trees, the C assimilated by leaves is allocated to all sink organs for the purpose of respiration, growth, storage and defense (Kozlowski T.T. 1992). As the C requirement of different organs and processes vary temporally due to normal functioning or unexpected stress, trees must adjust C allocation to survive. In rubber tree, latex production and collection by tapping represent an additional C sink because the latex that flows out of the trunk must be regenerated by *de novo* synthesis (d'Auzac et al. 1997). Tapping is known to activate latex metabolism (Annamalainathan, Krishnakumar, and Jacob 2001) and the highest production of latex is frequently reached several months after the beginning of the tapping period (i.e., in October– November in Thailand). Latex regeneration consumes huge amounts of carbon in the form of soluble sugars inside the laticifer cells (d'Auzac et al. 1997). Intensive tapping systems are tailored for each rubber clone type, mainly by monitoring the changes in sucrose content in laticifers, the first limiting factor for regeneration of the exported latex, as sucrose is both the source of energy for the laticifers' metabolism and the precursor of the isoprene biosynthesis (d'Auzac 1989; Gohet et al. 1996).

However, to forecast the effect of tapping systems in the longer term, a better understanding is needed of the allocation of carbon resources between tree growth, reserves and latex regeneration. It has been known for decades that a negative relationship exists between annual latex production and annual wood biomass production (Gooding 1952; Karling 1934; Silpi et al. 2006). Preserving a good balance between growth and latex regeneration is a key for long-term rubber production (Gohet et al. 1996; Lacote et al. 2004; Obouayeba et al. 2012).

Moreover, tapping activates accumulation of starch in wood and bark, suggesting that rubber trees adjust the allocation of C to storage to satisfy metabolic demand for latex production, at the expense of growth (Chantuma et al. 2009; Silpi et al. 2006, 2007). The carbohydrates stored in the parenchyma xylem cells in the trunk are mostly made up of soluble sugars and starch (Chantuma et al. 2009; Silpi et al. 2007). Other compounds, including cyanogenic glucosides, have also been suggested to play the role of C buffer in the inner bark to regenerate latex (Kongsawadworakul et al. 2009). Finally, it is still not clear whether all the soluble sugars used for latex

regeneration come from stored carbohydrates (reserves) or if recent photosynthates transferred from the foliage to the trunk inner bark via the phloem sap are also used. Moreover, the concentrations of soluble sugars and starch vary with the season.

Rubber is a deciduous tree with annual defoliation in dry season, with leaves first changing color and then falling. During the defoliation period, local farmers stop tapping latex from their trees, usually by December–January depending on genetic material, planting density and environmental condition (Guerra-Hincapié et al. 2020; Priyadarshan 2017). In the dry season which includes tapping rest (i.e., from February to April), small changes take place in the total nonstructural carbohydrate concentrations in the trunk. Just after re-foliation and the beginning of tapping period (i.e., March–May), starch concentrations are low while soluble sugar concentrations are high and soluble sugar concentrations are low (Chantuma et al. 2009; Silpi et al. 2007).

A recent study showed that, in rubber tree, seasonal dynamics of natural carbon isotopic composition (δ^{13} C) of latex were not related to those of leaf soluble sugars, suggesting that C in latex does not all originate directly from recently assimilated C in leaves but also from a reserve pool in which new C is mixed with older C (Kanpanon et al. 2015).

Pulse labelling the foliage with ¹³CO₂ makes it possible to trace the fate and dynamics of the labelled assimilates into the whole plant, its different organs, and metabolites. This method allow to study where and how rapidly the labelled C (i.e., recently assimilated C) is allocated among the different competing pools (Desalme et al. 2017; Epron et al. 2011; Epron, Laclau, et al. 2012; Kagawa, Sugimoto, and Maximov 2006; Keel et al. 2007, 2012; Studer, Siegwolf, and Abiven 2014; Tsuji et al. 2022). Because ¹³C is not radioactive it poses no safety issues and can be easily used in field experiments. Allocation priorities and C dynamics can be estimated by comparing isotopic signals among organs, compartments or metabolic pools and by calculating kinetic parameters (e.g. mean residence times) from changes in isotopic signals after

KU iThesis 6017100068 thesis / recv: 14072566 00:57:08 / seq: 45

labelling (Dannoura et al. 2011; Desalme et al. 2017; Epron et al. 2016). This makes it possible to trace recently assimilated C into both fast and slow cycling compounds and to calculate the transfer velocity and mean residence times of C in the metabolites (soluble compounds, starch, structural compounds) (Epron, Bahn, et al. 2012).

Based on past experience (Dannoura et al. 2011; Epron et al. 2016; Plain et al. 2009), the main challenges for measuring crown photosynthesis and pulse-labelling trees are the size of the chamber that can enclose the whole tree crown and the climate control inside the chamber. One of the first attempts to measure whole tree photosynthesis was on young apple trees several decades ago (Hei necke and Chiders, 1937); subsequently, other systems were developed, but limited to young, small trees (Corelli-Grappadelli and Magnanini 1993; Dreyer and Daudet 1984; Li et al. 2022) or to short-term measurements (Barton et al. 2010, 2012; Pérez-Priego et al. 2010) that excluded the possibility to perform ¹³CO₂ labelling. The size of the chamber is crucial for trees planted at low density, such as rubber tree or fruit trees, because they generally develop large crowns, requiring chambers of several tens of cubic meters. In addition, climate control is crucial in tropical conditions because the temperature inside a closed chamber rises rapidly without proper control. Thus, the current study aimed to develop and test a system including a large closed-chamber to measure photosynthesis of an entire tree crown and pulse label the tree with ¹³CO₂ in a rubber plantation in Eastern Thailand.

In the present study, the goal was to determine the contribution of C sources involved in the latex biosynthesis (recent photosynthates versus stored carbohydrates) and to assess if there is a shift in the respective contribution of recently assimilated C and reserves during the tapping period. This research developed and tested a system including a large closed-chamber to measure photosynthesis of an entire tree crown and pulse label the tree with ¹³CO₂ in a rubber plantation. Two different periods were compared: (i) 2 months after tapping started, when latex production is low and ii) 5 months after tapping started, when latex production is low and iii) 5 months after tapping started, when latex production is high, to identify any differences in C allocation and dynamics. The hypothesis was that the ¹³C would be recovered rapidly after labelling in the latex, implying that some of the new photosynthates would

be rapidly allocated to latex but that the ¹³C peak would be reached later because of the mixing of new (¹³C) and older C (¹²C) in a common pool of reserves before being allocated to latex. The expected result was that the ¹³C allocation pattern and ¹³C dynamics would change between the two labelling periods in response to changing C sinks due to an increase in latex production during the tapping period.

OBJECTIVES

This project aims to improve our understanding of the carbon allocation of latex in rubber trees (*Hevea brasiliensis* Muell.Arg.).

1. To develop and test the ${}^{13}\text{CO}_2$ pulse labelling system of a (4 year old) rubber tree.

2. To determine the contribution of C sources involved in the latex biosynthesis (recent photosynthates versus stored carbohydrates).

3. To determine if there is a shift in their respective contribution and in C dynamics during the tapping period.

LITERATURE REVIEW

Carbon allocation and plant production

Carbon (C) allocation is a major issue in plant ecology. During photosynthesis carbon dioxide (CO₂) is taken up from the air and converted to nonstructural carbohydrates (NSC) that serve as both energy carrier and as a building block for anabolic processes like growth, defense and storage or exchanges with other organisms (e.g., leaves, stems, roots) (Hartmann and Trumbore 2016).

Plant carbohydrates are categorized into 2 forms of structural and nonstructural carbohydrates. The structural carbohydrates are polysaccharides or longchained molecules (cellulose, hemicellulose, and pectin), that constitute the structure of the plant cells and of the supporting plant structure they form, such as stalks and stems. Non-structural carbohydrates, made of soluble sugars (glucose, fructose, and sucrose) and insoluble polymers (starch), are the major substrates used for both primary and secondary plant metabolism and storage (Hartmann et al. 2020; Hartmann and Trumbore 2016). However, some species have different strategies, storing lipids (Herrera-Ramírez et al. 2021). Plant growth and survival depend more on the partitioning of C resources between the different plant parts and function than on the total amount of assimilated C. In agriculture particularly, the productivity depends mainly on the harvest index, the amount of harvested biomass divided by the total amount of biomass. However, the processes of C partitioning among the different sinks remain poorly understood and this constitutes a weakness in process-based tree models (Génard et al. 2010).

C fluxes are generally assessed by the variations of the size or by the activity of the sink organs (like fruit growth). Though, such estimations may have a bias if re-allocation occurs, such as the mobilisation of reserves, especially in trees. Conversely, fluxes from the source organs to the sinks can be measured directly by the use of labelled compounds. The use of CO_2 enriched with the stable isotope ¹³C allows tracking photo-assimilated ¹³C atoms into metabolites and their transfer through the

45

phloem to the sinks. Such an approach is used to calculate transfer velocity and the proportion of recently assimilated C in the biomass synthesized after labelling. This method has long been restricted to the laboratory or to small plants, but it has recently been extended to large field grown trees, providing major information on C allocation processes (Dannoura et al. 2011; Epron et al. 2011). However, these studies did not tackle the question of the influence of variations in sink activity on C assimilation and allocation patterns. What happens when an additional sink competes with other sinks and functions? Answering such a question requires short term adjustment of sink activity without major perturbation of the whole plant functioning. The rubber tree is a very relevant model tree, thanks to its product, the latex. When the latex vessels located in the bark are severed by the tapping practice, the latex flows out and is collected before being regenerated *in situ*. This induces an artificial C sink because latex has a high C content and is not naturally exuded from the tree without tapping. Such specificity has been used to study the dynamics of carbohydrate reserves (for example (Silpi et al. 2007)).

Importance of natural rubber in Thailand

Rubber (*Hevea brasiliensis* Muell.Arg.) is not only an interesting species for studies on C allocation in trees, it is a major tree crop and an important economic sector in many countries. Rubber plantations cover around 14 million ha and produced a total of 14.6 million metric tons in 2022 (IRSG 2023). Natural Rubber (NR) still accounts for 47% of the worldwide elastomer sale market (IRSG, 2021). The superior qualities of natural rubber to the synthetic polymers make it indispensable for automotive and aeronautic industries (e.g. trucks and planes tires), mechanics (e.g. joints and anti-seismic bracket), and in medical industry (e.g. latex gloves) (Martius et al. 2021, IRSG, 2021). Mainly, the demand is driven by the strong increase in the natural rubber consumption in Asia which currently accounts for 75% of the total worldwide consumption (13.8 million tons in 2021), whereas the supply is ensured by plantations of rubber trees in the inter-tropical zone, mostly in South-East Asia (84%). The prospect is good for these countries to invest in the development of rubber tree cultivation, not only to supply their national market, but also to export the surplus.

However, the recent evolution of rubber prices has been marked by high fluctuations which create an unstable environment for the full commodity chain (Pinizzotto et al. 2021).

Since 1997, Thailand has been the first producer of natural rubber with an estimated total output of 5 million tons and plantation area at 3.95 million ha in 2021, representing around 38% of the world production (13.9 million tons) (IRSG 2021). Of this amount, around 90% are exported as raw material, making rubber a major export commodity. Rubber wood also provides substantial additional incomes for the farmers at the time of tree logging. Rubber production in Thailand is mainly built on small-scale farmers (smallholders). Thus, it is estimated that rubber production involves, either directly or indirectly, about 10% of the total Thai population (6 million people or 1 million families). In all, it is indisputable that rubber production plays a very important role in Thailand economy (Chambon et al. 2013; Somboonsuke, Wettayaprasit et al. 2013).

The rubber tree

Hevea brasiliensis Muell.Arg. is a tropical tree and a perennial plant species from the Euphorbiaceae family. It is native to the Amazon Basin in Brazil and adjoining countries. Rubber grows best at temperatures of 20–28°C with a well-distributed annual rainfall of 1,800–2,000 mm. It grows satisfactorily up to 600 metres above sea level (but is capable of growing much higher to at least 1,000 metres near the equator) and will perform on most soils providing adequate. Its required temperature and rainfall define its prime growing area as between the 10° latitudes on either side of the equator, but it is cultivated much further north (Guatemala, Mexico and China) and south (Sao Paulo region of Brazil). In Thailand, the traditional area for rubber tree cultivation is located in the south with some areas in the east, which annual rainfall about or more than 1,600 mm, and a dry season period lasting only 1–2 months. The non-traditional rubber planting area is located in the northeast and the north of Thailand, with annual rainfall less than 1,600 mm, long dry periods (more than 4 months) (Chantuma et al. 2017). Mature *Hevea* trees in rubber plantations are commonly 20–30 metres high, and

45

stems smooth and straight; bark grayish; leaves alternate, trifoliate, petioles 7.5–10 cm long (Reed 1976). *Hevea* tends to be damaged by high winds. Such trees flower once a year and after insect cross-pollination produce large fruits containing several thimble-sized seeds with hard outer coats. In most plantations, rubber plants are semi-clonal. They are multiplied in nurseries by bud grafting on a seedling rootstock and then transplanted at normal density (500–600 tree ha⁻¹) in plantation plots.

Hevea is a deciduous tree with annual shedding (defoliation) of senescent leaves in dry season. Annual defoliation and refoliation cycles occur in rubber trees after 3-4 years of age, which render the trees leafless for a short period. Each year, the entire canopy is shed at the beginning of the dry season (Ridgman 1989). Leaf fall is normally followed within 2 weeks by the terminal buds bursting and by the expansion of new leaves within further week. The period of refoliation lasts approximately one month from the emergence of the leaf to the mature leaf stage, depending on genetic material, planting density and environmental condition (Guerra-Hincapié et al. 2020; Priyadarshan 2017; Ridgman 1989). Latex yields normally fall slightly at the onset of leaf fall and are markedly reduced during refoliation. There are relationships between long term latex yield and climatic parameters such as minimum temperature, maximum temperature, sunshine hours, and relative humidity (Gohet et al. 2015; Rao and Vijayakumar 1992; Ridgman 1989). This is due to the physiology of the rubber tree itself with changes in total non-structural carbohydrates, particularly starch, depleted following bud break and re-foliation in the stem wood (Chantuma et al. 2009; Silpi et al. 2007). The decrease in total carbohydrate concentration after refoliation indicates a net mobilization both for direct incorporation in new flushes (including leaf and flowers) and to sustain the increased growth respiration (Lacointe et al. 1993). Actually, the farmers stop tapping during the refoliation period to avoid competition for carbohydrates between leaf growth and latex yield.

The rubber trees respond to drought stimuli, which generate variation in leaf phenology at different times and locations. Priyadarshan (2017) indicated that the phenological phases respond to the latitudinal position where plantations are located. In the north of the equator, the defoliation occurs in February–March, mainly associated

45

with low humidity and high transpiration rate, while in the south of the equator in September-October, after winter with low temperature and water deficiency. The annual defoliation and re-foliation period is generally lasting from January to March, local farmers stop tapping latex from their trees, usually by late January or early February to April in Chachoengsao area, eastern of Thailand (Chantuma et al. 2017; Silpi et al. 2006). Additionally, leaf flushing phenology is delayed with higher temperatures during November-December (Zhai and Xu 2023). Depending on conditions, the initial growth takes 5–8 years to reach 'maturity', which is defined as the stage when tapping can be started ('opening'). The opening corresponds to the moment when canopy closes and trunk girth increment slows down. It is also the time when the work of the tapper can be covered by the earnings of the rubber collected. Opening the trees too early would be prejudicial to the further growth and would condemn the trees to be tapped at a small size for years long with a limited production (Obouayeba et al. 2012). These results also highlight the fact that the competition between vegetative growth and rubber yield is important especially as the tapping is early. In practice, the technical standard is to open the trees when the trunk has reached about 50 cm circumference at the height of 1 metre above ground level (Chantuma et al. 2017).

Latex

Natural rubber latex is a cloudy white colloidal suspension, present in all the organs of the rubber tree. The latex is the cytoplasm of specialized cells known as laticifers that constitute the laticiferous vessels (LV) located within the phloem tissue mostly in the inner soft bark (ISB). In the bark of the trunk, the latex vessels make mantels that are emitted successively within the phloem tissue by the cambium (C). Laticiferous vessels of rubber trees are arranged in an articulate form in concentric rings in the phloem (Figure 1).

Natural rubber particles make 90% of the total solid content of the latex. Fresh natural latex is a white opaque fluid of density between 0.97 and 0.98 depending on the rubber content. It is almost neutral having a pH in the range of 6.5-7.0 (D'Auzac and Jacob, 1989). Latex contains mainly rubber particles (~30–50% w/w fresh latex; 87%

w/w dry latex) dispersed in the cytoplasmic serum (Hepper and Audley 1969). The rubber fraction is the most abundant, followed by the C-serum and the lutoids. In terms of composition, the fresh latex contains about 60% of water, 35% of cis-1,4-polyisoprene and 5–6% of non-isoprene molecules, i.e. mostly including proteins, lipids, carbohydrates and minerals (Gooding 1952; Nawamawat et al. 2011).

Interestingly, the rubber particles of *Hevea* latex exhibit a bimodal size distribution with the presence of large and small particles named cream and skim fractions, respectively, Figure 2 (Bottier 2020; Singh et al. 2003).



Figure 1 The general organization of the trunk bark and wood of *Hevea brasiliensis* Muell.Arg. at the tapping cut site; (C) cambium, (CP) conducting phloem, (ISB) inner soft bark, (L) laticiferous vessels, (OHB) outer hard bark, (SX) secondary xylem and (VR) vascular ray.

Source: (d'Auzac 1989)



Figure 2 Latex of *Hevea brasiliensis* Muell.Arg. seen at various scales. (A) Picture of a cup of latex in a rubber tree field at the macroscale. (B) Schematic view of the latex at the mesoscale showing lutoids, rubber particles and Frey-Wyssling particles dispersed in the aqueous C-serum. (C) Schematic views of the major constituents of latex at the microscale: a lutoid and a rubber particle. The diagrams in (B) and (C) are not drawn to scale.

Source: (Bottier 2020)

Tapping and tapping system

Rubber trees are usually tapped by cutting a spiral groove in the bark halfway or more around the stem, as deep as possible but without injuring the tree's cambium. The tapping corresponds to a wound in the tree bark. Only a thin slice of bark, 2–3 mm thick is shaved off to cut open the laticiferous cells in the phloem. Latex gushes out of the tree when laticifer cells are severed during tapping. This flow is due to the very high

pressure inside the laticifer cells compared to the outside. The latex is collected by allowing it to run into a cup attached to the trunk. After some hours the coagulation of latex plugs this wound and the flow stops. To restart flow from a tapping cut in a subsequent tapping, all that is needed is to cut a thin shaving of the bark along with which the plugs of coagulated latex are also removed and release the latex upward into the new cut (Premakumari and Panikka, 1992; John, 1992; Kush, 1994).

The reference system is tapping trees on half-spiral alternate days (S/2 d2 by the international notation) Vijayakumar et al. (2009). However, in high-yielding budded clones prone to tapping-panel dryness (TPD), reduced tapping intensity of once in 3 days is recommended though, in general, small growers prefer higher frequencies.

Latex is extracted using a multi-annual tapping system that can continue for 15–30 years by regular tapping of the tree bark (Vrignon-Brenas et al. 2019). The incision of bark is made from left to right at an angle of 35°, downward at a height of 150 cm from the bud union (RRIT, 2018), by removing the thin bark at 0.5–1 mm from the cambium, will open a maximum number of vessels, and to avoid damage to the bark (Tupý 1985). In Thailand, trees are usually tapped at night. Tapping late during the day will reduce the latex yield due to increased transpiration leading to lower turgor pressure.

The tapping systems used to harvest vary in the different rubber production countries. Therefore, choosing a tapping system is an essential factor to determine the yield and physiology of rubber trees. Appropriate tapping systems are defined by clones and environment (Gohet et al. 1996; Lacote et al. 2004, 2010; Obouayeba et al. 2009). The tapping cut of rubber trees can have variable lengths. For example, in full spiral (S) the cut is made on the whole circumference of the tree, in half spiral (S/2) and third spiral (S/3), the cut is made on the half and the third circumference, respectively. The other main parameter is the tapping frequency, expressed as d1 (every day), d2 (every other day), 2d3 (tap two days, rest one day), etc. When low tapping frequencies, such as d4 or d5, are used, the decrease in cumulated production is compensated by the use of chemical stimulants (ethephon (2-chloroethyl phosphor-

nic acid), a precursor of ethylene) that increase the flow duration and then the yield at each tapping.

In Thailand, different tapping systems are used in each region (Chambon et al. 2013). The systems recommended by the Rubber Research Institute of Thailand (RRIT); such as S/2 d2, S/2 2d3, S/3 2d/3 and S/3 2d3 with ethephon are not often implemented by rubber smallholders (Somboonsuke et al. 2013). Currently, high frequency tapping systems (S/3 2d/3 or S/3 3d/4 mainly) are commonly used (Chantuma et al. 2011) because they can compensate for the reduction of actual tapping days due to weather variability, notably heavy rains during the rainy season, that leads to loss of revenue. However, such intensive systems may have adverse effects. First, frequent tapping induces more bark consumption and shortens the duration of tapping of the trees. Actually, the lifespan of a rubber plantation is about 20 years in Thailand, leading to shorter rotations than in areas using lower tapping frequencies (Obouayeba, Soumahin, and Coulibaly 2010; Sainoi et al. 2017; Soumahin and Obouayeba 2009). This has negative economical, but also environmental impacts, as each logging/replanting sequence degrades the soil (Panklang et al. 2022). Second, tapping has a huge effect on the tree growth. As both the vegetative growth producing wood biomass and latex production require large amounts of carbon, they are in competition for carbohydrates. Therefore, trunk growth is one index to determine a good balance between latex yield and good health of rubber trees. As the decrease of girth increment after resumption of tapping leads to a decrease in growth rate within only two weeks (Silpi et al. 2006), it is inferred that the tapping itself (repeated wounding of the trunk) affects growth. Hence, high tapping frequencies may have a stronger negative impact than lower ones.

Therefore, low frequency tapping systems (Gohet et al. 1996; Lacote et al. 2010; Obouayeba et al. 2010; Sainoi et al. 2017; Soumahin and Obouayeba 2009) have been developed. They are adapted to some major risks to rubber production, namely a short producing period and the lack of manpower. Several researchers have been working to improve these systems, particularly by better fitting the use of chemical stimulation by 2-chloroethyl phosphonic acid (ethephon), an ethylene generator applied to the tapping panel, necessary with low frequency tapping systems. In particular, Gohet et al. (1996) proposed a framework to adapt the chemical stimulation to the physiological types of rubber tree clones. Ethephon releases ethylene gas that enhances latex yield because it increases the duration of latex flow after tapping, with a slower latex coagulation, and by activating latex cell metabolism (d'Auzac et al., 1997). This compensates for the loss of land productivity due to decreased tapping frequency and greatly enhanced labor productivity, as the yield per tree per tapping is much higher. Consequently, both smallscale planters and agro-industrial plantations use low tapping frequencies (d3 to d5) together with ethephon stimulation, in many countries worldwide (Sivakumaran and Chong, 1994, Jetro and Simon, 2007, Lacote et al., 2010, Traore et al., 2011). However, mostly for socio-economic reasons (small size of the farms, difficulties to share workers) these systems are not frequent in Thailand despite positive results, notably by Sainoi et al. (2017), showing that low frequency tapping systems (d3) with stimulation resulted in an equivalent yield in cumulative latex production compared with the other tapping systems and also had higher latex production per tapping. Bark consumption was less in the low frequency tapping systems leading to the possibility of lengthening the economic lifespan of the tapping panels of the tree.

The increasing cost and decreasing availability of workforce to tap rubber worldwide, including in Thailand, make low tapping frequency systems more and more necessary for the sustainability of natural rubber production. This is why large estates and several R&D institutions are conducting research on very low tapping frequencies, from D6 to D12 (twice a month) (Chantuma et al. 2017; Gohet, Chambon, and Lacote 2016; Phearun et al. 2019). Such systems would change the physiological functioning of the tapped trees, particularly regarding water and carbon dynamics.

Carbon allocation and rubber productivity

Tapping for latex production requires de novo latex synthesis that consumes a huge amount of carbon. A balance of C source (soluble sugars) inside the latexproducing vessels is therefore the key of rubber tree productivity, as sucrose is both the source of energy for latex metabolism and the precursor of the isoprene molecule (d'

KU iThesis 6017100068 thesis / recv: 14072566 00:57:08 / seq:

4 5 Auzac et al. 1997). It has been shown that a direct competition for carbohydrate assimilates exists between rubber production and growth. The extent of this competition is well known and mainly depends on the latex sink size or metabolic activity, which itself depends on the clone and on the tapping systems (tapping frequency, hormonal stimulation etc.). Therefore, there are interactions between carbohydrate accumulation, partition and utilization for latex production and tree development.

Recent works in Thailand have shown that tapping affects growth, latex cell metabolism, activates reserve (starch) accumulation and the dynamics of carbohydrate contents between wood and bark too (Chantuma et al. 2009, 2011; Silpi et al. 2006, 2007). Tapping creates an additional sink that, contrary to expectations, increases the stored starch in wood and soluble sugars in bark. Starch acts as the long term storage in the wood and as local buffer in bark. Soluble sugars will be used as a carbon source for starch storage in wood and latex synthesis in bark (Chantuma et al. 2009; Silpi et al. 2007). Thus high starch accumulation ability could result in a long term latex yield, because the tree will be in a better balanced condition.

In many tree species, physiological adaptations to drought include the accumulation of osmotically active substances and/or the presence of particular compatible solutes, among them cyclitols (Merchant et al. 2006). Actually, drought-induced tree mortality can be due to carbon starvation and hydraulic failure (Hartmann 2015). Carbon starvation is often referred to as the depletion of non-structural carbohydrates (NSC) in response to stomatal closure, reduced C assimilation and sustained C storage dependency during longer droughts (Hartmann 2015; McDowell et al. 2008) and is now considered as one of the main mechanism involved in climate-driven tree mortality. If such direct effect has not yet been observed in rubber trees, latex production can also decrease the available carbon for of osmotic adjustment and xylem refilling, increasing the vulnerability of trees. It is known that drought induces hydraulic failure in rubber trees (Kunjet et al. 2013; Sopharat et al. 2015) and that can increase the risk of C starvation, particularly in tapped trees.

Therefore, rubber production is regulated by the processes in photosynthate accumulation, metabolic partition and utilization in latex production. The management of the trade-off between latex production and biomass increment is a key of the productivity of rubber plantations (Gohet et al. 1996; Silpi et al. 2006). To better understand its physiological bases and forecast the long-term effects of tapping systems, one must be able to actually measure C fluxes within the rubber tree, from assimilation in leaves to biomass sinks and to latex, with a particular focus on reserves. Pioneering work has been done in Thailand thanks to the use of the stable carbon isotope ¹³C (Kanpanon et al. 2015).

¹³C carbon isotope and its composition (δ^{13} C) in plants

Carbon from atmosphere consists of stable carbon isotopes ¹²C and ¹³C, counting for 98.9% and 1.1%, respectively. The amount of ¹³C is expressed using isotope composition (δ^{13} C, measured in ‰).

$$\delta^{13}C_{sample} = [R_{sample}/R_{standard}) - 1]$$
[1]

The standard is a reference limestone (Pee Dee limestone) at South Carolina State in the United States ($R_{standard; VPDB} = 0.0111802$), and the sample is either the plant (bulk tissues or organic molecules) or the CO₂ in air. The ratio of ¹³C to ¹²C found in plant is less than in air. $\delta^{13}C$ of C₃ plants averages -27‰ showing however large variations, and $\delta^{13}C$ of air is -8‰. $\delta^{13}C$ has negative values because both plants and air have ¹³C in a less proportion than that found in the reference limestone.

The difference between CO_2 in air and carbon in plant tissue is related to fractionations that take place during photosynthesis and it is called carbon isotope discrimination ($\Delta^{13}C$, expressed in ‰). Carbon isotope discrimination during photosynthesis is the difference in isotope composition between the source of carbon (air) and the sink of carbon, which is the leaf carbohydrates and, more generally, the leaf biomass, with Equation 2:

$$\Delta = \frac{\delta_{\text{air}} - \delta_{\text{plant}}}{1 + \delta_{\text{plant}}} \approx \delta_{\text{air}} - \delta_{\text{plant}}$$
[2]

One of the reasons that plants fix ¹³CO₂ less than ¹²CO₂ is that ¹³CO₂ is heavier than ¹²CO₂ and thus ¹³CO₂ diffuses more slowly than ¹²CO₂ (4.4‰ fractionation). However, the most important reason is that the RuBisCO enzyme (ribulose-1, 5bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase) tends to fix ¹²CO₂ more than ¹³CO₂ with a fractionation of about -30‰, while the enzyme PEP carboxylase (phosphoenol pyruvate carboxylase) tends to fix ¹³CO₂ more than ¹²CO₂ too, but in much less proportion. The average value for both carboxylations is assumed to be 27‰ in C₃ plants. Due to the contribution of these different fractionation steps, the overall fractionation during C₃ plant photosynthesis, also called ¹³C discrimination (Δ ¹³C), typically ranges from 18 to 25‰, and is mainly influenced by the ratio between internal and external CO₂ concentration (Farquhar and Richards 1984). Isotope ratio mass spectrometer (IRMS) allows fast, convenient and accurate measurements of δ ¹³C. Therefore, although ¹³C is a stable isotope, contrary to ¹⁴C, it can be used in plant physiology, either in natural composition or through labelling.

Labelling with stable isotopes

Stable isotopes, especially ¹³C, are widely used in ecology as tracers in trophic webs (Cerling et al. 2007; Dawson et al. 2002). Pulse-labelling with stable C isotopes has proven to be a valuable tool for understanding C dynamics, as it allows labelled carbon dioxide (CO₂) to be traced throughout plants (Epron et al. 2011; Epron, Laclau, et al. 2012). The fate of carbon in the soil plant system can be followed by pulse-labelling plants in the field with ¹³CO₂ for a short period of time (< 1 day). The ¹³C assimilated by plants during the pulse labelling can then be tracked in the whole plant, down to the respiratory fluxes during the following days and weeks (chase period).

In particular, ¹³CO₂ pulse-labelling experiments have been widely used to assess the temporal dynamics of labelled photoassimilates in trees growing in both natural and perturbed conditions such as drought, increased temperature, and elevated CO₂ (Blessing et al. 2015; Epron, Laclau, et al. 2012; Furze et al. 2019; Hesse et al. 2019; Streit et al. 2013). However, previous studies have often used potted saplings or small trees (Barthel et al. 2011; Corelli-Grappadelli and Magnanini 1993; Endrulat et al. 2010; Li et al. 2022), and individual branches or the crown (Kagawa et al. 2006; Plain et al. 2009; Epron et al. 2011). Few ¹³C labelling experiments have been conducted on large whole-trees in the field (Epron et al. 2016; Warren et al. 2012). Recently, Carbone et al. (2007) and Högberg et al. (2007) pulse labelled small boreal conifers growing in the field (with ¹⁴CO₂ and ¹³CO₂, respectively), to resolve the relative roles of new photosynthetic products as sources of below-ground and above-ground respiration. The accurate determination of residence and transfer times of carbon in the atmosphereplant-soil system requires frequent measurements of the isotopic composition of evolved CO₂ during the chase period following the short-term labelling with ¹³CO₂. Up to now, both cost and time required for analyzing air samples by mass spectrometry in the laboratory limit frequency and duration of isotopic measurements in experiments studying either variations of natural isotopic abundance during seasons or changes in isotopic enrichment after a pulse labelling.

The recent development of tuneable diode laser absorption spectrometers (TDLAS) allows *in situ* simultaneous measurements of effluxes of ${}^{13}CO_2$ and ${}^{12}CO_2$ at a high frequency. TDLAS have recently been used to examine ecosystem functioning (Bowling et al. 2003, Griffis et al. 2004, Barbour et al. 2007, Bahn et al. 2009, Marron et al. 2009), and this is a promising tool for tracking ${}^{13}C$ in respiratory fluxes after pulse labelling (Bahn et al. 2009).

Short-term ¹³C pulse labelling is a widespread approach to trace the fate of recently assimilated C. Here, whole plants (Lippu 1994, Keel et al. 2006, Sangster et al. 2010, Epron et al. 2011, Glaser et al., 2012) or parts thereof (Nogués et al., 2006, Streit et al., 2013) are exposed to a highly ¹³C-enriched atmosphere, usually for periods ranging from minutes to several hours. This generates strong isotope labelling, which can be detected within the C pools in plants and soil (see review by Epron et al. 2012). These techniques shed new light into many not yet fully understood physiological mechanisms such as phloem loading/unloading including transfer

velocities and time lags between C assimilation and respiration (Plain et al. 2009, Kuzyakov and Gavrichkova 2010, Barthel et al. 2011), partitioning of C fluxes to heterotrophic and autotrophic respiration (Kuptz et al. 2011, Biasi et al. 2012) or translocation, storage and remobilization of assimilated C during the season (Kuzyakov and Domanski 2000, Kagawa et al. 2006, Keel et al. 2012). These and further isotope labelling studies traced the isotopic composition of certain plant tissues, non-structural carbohydrates, including soluble sugars and starch, and cellulose as representative of the structural C pool, yielding important insights into fundamental metabolic processes (Keel et al. 2012; Richardson et al. 2013).

Moreover, combining ¹³C pulse labelling with compound-specific ¹³C analyses opens up new horizons in the research on partitioning mechanisms of C between metabolites and metabolic groups, their formation and turnover times (Brüggemann et al. 2011). Isotope application continues to have high potential, especially in quantifying C allocation into individual compound classes (Streit et al. 2013). It can contribute significantly to expanding this understanding of mechanisms underlying the C allocation processes in plants.

Carbon isotope composition (δ^{13} C) in rubber trees

Kanpanon (2017) found that the range of δ^{13} C at leaf level among 10 commercial clones of rubber trees was narrow (-29.9 ‰ to -31.5%) and there was a correlation between leaf δ^{13} C and intrinsic water use efficiency (WUE_i) under high vapour pressure deficit only. Therefore, on these 10 clones, the prediction of WUEi by leaf δ^{13} C would have low precision. However, when using a more genetically diverse collection of 49 wild genotypes, there were larger leaf δ^{13} C variations among the genotypes at all seasons (Kanpanon et al. 2017). The leaf δ^{13} C was rather stable with a good correlation between rainy and dry season. In rainy season, there was a positive significant correlation between leaf δ^{13} C, leaf mass per area and leaf nitrogen. The genetic variability of leaf δ^{13} C is then promising for breeding if a good correlation between leaf δ^{13} C is then promising for breeding if a good correlation between leaf δ^{13} C of leaf and WUE can be established (Kanpanon et al. 2017).

Kanpanon et al. (2015) investigated the diurnal and seasonal variation of δ^{13} C in 20-year-old tapped and untapped rubber trees and showed that latex δ^{13} C was unrelated to that of leaf soluble sugars, suggesting that the C in latex does not all originate directly from C recently assimilated in leaves but comes also from a reserve pool. However, the relative importance of the two sources is not yet known. Therefore, knowledge of seasonal differences and evolution from early tapping to more established situations is of great importance.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

1. Materials

- 1.1 Plant material; RRIT 408 clone of rubber trees (*Hevea brasiliensis* Muell.Arg.)
- 1.2 A portable gas exchange analyzer (Li6400XT; LI-COR Inc., Lincoln, NE, USA)
- 1.3 Air conditioner (TRANE; 36,000 BTU/h; WI, USA)
- 1.4 Air temperature and the relative humidity sensor (HMP 50, Vaisala, Helsinki, Finland)
- 1.5 Data logger (CR 1000; Campbell Scientific Inc.; Logan, UT, USA)
- 1.6 Quantum sensor (LI-190 R; LI-COR Inc., Lincoln, NE, USA)
- The 35–45 m³ of close chamber system, made of 150 μm-thick transparent polyethylene film
- 1.8 Diesel generator (25 kVA single phase diesel generator)
- 1.9 ¹³CO₂. (99.299 %, Cambridge Isotope Laboratory Inc., Andover, MA USA)
- 1.10 A infrared gas analyzer (LI-840; LI-COR Industries; Lincoln, NE, USA)
- 1.11 An absolute barometric pressure sensor (BMP 280; Bosch Sensortec; Reutlingen, Germany)
- 1.12 A air flow meter (DryCal DC-Lite; BIOS International Corporation; Butler, NJ, USA)
- 1.13 Ball-grinder (MM400, Retsch, Germany)
- 1.14 Vacuum centrifugation (vacuum concentrator CentriVap, LabConco, Kansas City, MO, USA)
- 1.15 Leaf area meter (LI-3100A, LI-COR Inc., Lincoln, NE, USA)
- 1.16 Freeze dryer (Maxi-Dry plus, HetoHolten, Allerod, Denmark)
- 1.17 Elemental analyser coupled to a continuous flow isotope ratio mass spectrometer (vario ISOTOPE cube coupled to the IsoPrime 100, IsoPrime Ltd, Cheadle, UK)
- 1.18 Tin capsule (6*4 mm)
- 1.19 Eddy-flux tower
- 1.21 Methanol/chloroform/water mixture (12/5/3, v/v/v)
- 1.22 Methanol/chloroform (1/1, v/v)
- 1.23 Sulphuric acid $(0.6 \text{ M H}_2\text{SO}_4)$
- 1.24 Hydrochloric acid (2% w/v)
- 1.25 Hydrochloric acid (6 M HCl)

2. Methodology

2.1 Study site and plant material

The experiment was performed at the Chachoengsao Rubber Research Center (CRRC), Rubber Authority of Thailand, Chachoengsao province (13°34' N, 101°27' E, 69 m elevation) in eastern Thailand. In this area, the reported mean annual air temperature and cumulative rainfall were 27.1°C and 1,247 mm, respectively, with a dry season from December to April (Thai Meteorological Department, 2019). Rainfall, temperature, and global radiation were measured throughout the experiment by the station 'Rubber Flux Chachoengsao', Asia flux network, and are shown in Figure 4. Average rainfall is less in traditional area (southern of Thailand). Wintering of the trees, namely the defoliation and re-foliation period is generally lasting from mid-January to April in Chachoengsao area.

A monoclonal plantation of rubber trees (*Hevea brasiliensis* Muell.Arg., clone RRIT 408) was planted in 2012 with a spacing of 7 m between tree lines and 2.5 m between trees (568 trees ha⁻¹), on a sandy-clay-loam soil (Kabin Buri series), Figure 3. Tapping for latex production began in May 2016 with the incision of the bark at a height of 1.20 m from the ground. In this study, the tapping process was started from 4 years after planting (earlier than regular trees) and the rubber tree trunk circumference was about 19–24 cm (Table 1). Every three days, the trees were tapped with a half spiral downward cut (i.e., 'S/2 d3', a common tapping system). The 9-month tapping season starts in early May and ends in January when defoliation and refoliation occur. A total of seven 4-year-old trees were selected for the labelling experiment in two

different periods (six trees) and one tree for testing the chamber (Table 1). These trees were tapped before the normal age and size for practical reasons. They were not too big, in order to easily handle the chamber and system for labelling but big enough for a significant latex production and to follow the ¹³C in latex. Normally, the tapping process start from 7 years old after planting or the rubber tree circumference are about 50 cm at 1 m from the ground in this area (Chantuma et al. 2017).

2.2 Experimental design and treatments of pulse-labelling in rubber tree with ¹³CO₂

The experiment was arranged with two treatments (labelling periods) comprising three replications.

- (i) Three trees were labelled on 25, 26, and 27 June 2016 (early in the rainy season, low latex yield). At that period, i.e. about 2 months after tapping began , the foliage was well developed and active and the tree girth increment was maximum (Silpi et al. 2006).
- (ii) Three trees were labelled on 5, 6, and 7 October 2016 (late in the rainy season, high latex yield). At that period, i.e. 5 months after the beginning of tapping, latex production was higher than in June, as expected (Figure 5)



- Figure 3 The rubber tree (4 year old) and the rubber plantation (RRIT 408 clone) used for the experiment at the Chachoengsao Rubber Research Center (CRRC), Chachoengsao province, Thailand.
- Table 1 Growth characteristics of six rubber trees pulse-labelled with ¹³CO2 in June,2016 (#1-#3) and in October, 2016 (#4-#6) and non-labelled rubber tree(#7).

Labelling period	June 2016			October 2016			Non
Tree	#1	#2	#3	#4	#5	#6	#7
Date	25 Jun	26 Jun	27 Jun	5 Oct	6 Oct	7 Oct	14 Jun
Girth at 1.8 m (cm)	19.5	21.0	20.1	22.5	23.5	21.0	19.0
Tree height (m)	6.0	6.0	5.7	5.1	5.3	6.3	5.5
Crown wide (m)	4.2	4.0	3.8	3.8	4.2	4.0	3.7
Leaf area (m ²)	20.0	20.0	22.5	22.8	26.9	21.3	-
Leaf mass (kg)	2.5	2.3	2.5	3.0	2.8	2.6	-



Figure 4 Meteorological conditions during the course of the experiment. (A) Rainfall, (B) mean daily air temperature (black line), minimum and maximum daily air temperature (grey lines) and (C) daily global radiation. Black and grey horizontal bars depict the two labelling periods in June and in October during which three trees were labelled sequentially. Labelling dates for each tree are listed in Table 1 and Table 2. The empty horizontal bars indicate the period from leaf fall until new leaves become mature (January–March 2017). Vertical dashed lines indicate the period when trees were not tapped (tapping rest; February–April 2017).



Figure 5 Mean monthly latex production throughout the experiment. Vertical bars represent means \pm standard errors (n=12 trees).

2.3 Design of large chamber to measure tree crown CO₂ exchange rates and pulse-label trees with ¹³CO₂

The whole crown of the tree was enclosed in a chamber attached to scaffolds surrounding the tree (Figure 6, Figure 7 and Figure 8), using a design adapted from previous studies on eucalypt and beech trees (Epron et al. 2016; Plain et al. 2009). The chamber, made of 150 μ m-thick transparent polyethylene film, consisted of four lateral walls (3.0–3.8 m in height, depending on the size of the crown) and a top that was heat-sealed to the lateral walls. The chamber's total volume was in the range 35–45 m³ in a design similar to that of Plain et al. (2009) and Epron et al. (2016).

Immediately before the measurement, the crown was covered by the chamber, which was pulled tightly over the chamber support frame made from 1.3 cm diameter steel pipe. The pipes were cut to the desired lengths and connected to each other forming an approximately cubic shape. The size of the chamber support frame was adjusted to fit the size of each crown. The floor of the chamber (12 m^2) was made

of four plywood sheets (8 mm thick) that were cut out in one corner to accommodate the trunk. The floor was supported by 1.3 cm diameter steel pipes arranged in a square shape and covered by a sheet of transparent polyethylene film which was sealed with the chamber walls using clips and duct tape (Figure 8 and Figure 10).

A split-type air conditioner (TRANE; 36,000 BTU/h; WI, USA), powered by a 25 kVA single phase diesel generator (Figure 10), was used to limit the increase in air temperature inside the chamber compared to that of the outside air and to avoid water condensation. The outdoor unit was fixed to a frame located next to the chamber at the height of its floor and the indoor unit was placed inside the chamber. In addition, two axial fans and two air blowers were placed inside the chamber to ensure the air was well mixed inside the chamber.

Air temperature (T_{air}) and the relative humidity (RH) were measured with one probe outside the chamber and two probes inside the chamber (HMP 50, Vaisala, Helsinki, Finland). The photosynthetic photon flux density (PPDF) was measured outside and inside the chamber (LI-190 R; LI-COR Industries; Lincoln, NE, USA). Microclimatic data were stored every minute using a data logger (CR 1000; Campbell Scientific Inc.; Logan, UT, USA), Figure 12.

Moving the entire chamber, including the scaffolding frame and air conditioning unit, from tree to tree took a few hours, allowing measurement of one tree per day at least, with replications for statistical purposes.

2.3.1 Measurements of tree crown CO₂ exchange rates

Whole-canopy gas exchange measurements were performed on six rubber trees on June 25, 26 and 27 and on October 5, 6, and 7 between 8 and 11 a.m. just after the tree was tapped, early and late, respectively, in the rainy season. After closing the chamber, the decrease in CO_2 concentration inside the chamber due to the photosynthesis of the crown leaves was monitored for 20 minutes in June, 2016 and for 10–15 minutes in October, 2016 before starting ¹³CO₂ injection (Figure 6 and

Figure 7). The CO₂ concentration was measured using an infrared gas analyzer (LI-840; LI-COR Industries; Lincoln, NE, USA) and the values were stored on the datalogger every minute. One additional rubber tree was measured on June 14 for 82 minutes until the concentration in the chamber decreased from ambient to below 100 μ mol mol⁻¹. This tree was not labelled with ¹³CO₂.

The slope of the decrease in CO_2 concentration was used to calculate net crown CO_2 exchange rates (P_{crown}, in µmol tree⁻¹ s⁻¹) based on Equation 3:

$$P_{\rm crown} = \frac{\Delta[\rm CO_2]}{\Delta t} \frac{V \times P_{\rm atm}}{R \times (T_{\rm air} + 273.15)}$$
[3]

where $\frac{\Delta[CO_2]}{\Delta t}$ is the slope of the linear variations in CO₂ concentrations over time, V is the system volume (chamber, tubes, and analyzer, with the latter two being negligible, in m³), T_{air} is the air temperature (°C), R is the ideal gas constant (8.314 J K⁻¹ mol⁻¹), and P_{atm} is the atmospheric pressure in Pa measured using an absolute barometric pressure sensor (BMP 280; Bosch Sensortec; Reutlingen, Germany).



Figure 6 Overview of the large closed-chamber designed to field measure photosynthesis of whole tree crowns and pulse label trees with ¹³CO₂, installed on a rubber tree.



Figure 7 Schematic diagram of overview of large closed-chamber designed for field measurement of photosynthesis of whole tree crown and to pulse label tree with ¹³CO₂. Chamber made of 150 μm-thick transparent polyethylene film and attached to scaffolds surrounding the tree excluded for clarity. Air cooling ensured by air conditioning unit and air mixing using two axial fans and two air blowers inside chamber. Sensors measuring air temperature, humidity, and photosynthetic photon flux density installed inside and outside the chamber and connected to datalogger. CO₂ concentration inside the chamber is measured using infrared gas analyzer. ¹³CO₂ from gas cylinder injected into labelling chamber just above air blower, using rotameter and primary air flow meter. Drawing by Jate Sathornkich and Thippawan Angsiri.



Figure 8 The large closed-chamber designed for field measurement. (A) The scaffolds were placed surrounding the rubber tree. Air conditioning unit, two axial fans, two air blowers and sensors (air temperature, humidity, and PPFD) were installed inside chamber frame. (B) The cubic shape of chamber made of 150 μ m-thick transparent polyethylene film, which was pulled tightly over the top of canopy and chamber support frame. The size of the chamber support frame was adjusted to fit the size of each crown. (C) The floor of the chamber was sealed with the chamber walls using clips and duct tape.

2.3.2 Pulse-labelling rubber tree with ¹³CO₂

In situ pulse labelling was performed between 8 and 11 a.m. on each tree by injecting ¹³CO₂ just after the tree was tapped (Figure 11). Pulse labelling was performed on three trees in June, 2016 and three trees in October, 2016 by injecting ¹³CO₂ in the chamber just after the initial crown CO₂ exchange measurements had been completed. Almost-pure ¹³CO₂ (99.299 %; Cambridge Isotope Laboratory Inc.; Andover, MA, USA) was constantly injected into the labelling chamber using a primary air flow meter (DryCal DC-Lite; BIOS International Corporation; Butler, NJ, USA) at a rate adjusted to balance the estimated net rate of CO₂ consumption by crown photosynthesis and for 45-70 min to deliver approximately the same amount of ¹³CO₂ to each labelled tree (18 L of ${}^{13}CO_2$ per tree, equivalent to approximately 9.3 g of ${}^{13}C$ or 32 g of ${}^{13}CO_2$). The masses of ¹³CO₂ injected into the chamber were confirmed each time by weighing the gas cylinder just before and after labelling. The ¹³CO₂ was delivered close to an air blower to facilitate mixing. After the injection period, the chamber remained closed for an additional 15 minutes for the tree to assimilate part of the remaining ${}^{13}CO_2$ in the labelling chamber. Then, the chamber was opened and removed. Notably, the CO₂ concentration in the chamber could not be measured during the labelling because the gas analyzer was designed for measuring ¹²CO₂ and had low sensitivity to ¹³CO₂ (Figure 10 and Figure 11).



Figure 9 The control system and data logger to measure tree crown CO₂ exchange rates and pulse-label trees with ¹³CO₂.



Figure 10 (A–C) Air cooling ensured by air conditioning unit, (B) the compressor part was placed outside chamber but (C) the cooling part and (D) air mixing using two air blowers were placed inside chamber.



Figure 11 ¹³CO₂ from gas cylinder was constantly injected into the labelling chamber using a primary air flow meter at a rate adjusted to balance the estimated net rate of CO₂ consumption by crown photosynthesis.



Figure 12 Sensors measuring air temperature and humidity below canopy (left), and photosynthetic photon flux density above canopy (right).

2.4 Leaf photosynthesis

Net CO₂ assimilation was measured using a portable gas exchange analyzer (Li6400XT; LI-COR Inc., Lincoln, NE, USA) with the photon flux density set at 1,400 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹; the CO₂ concentration inside the chamber was 390 μ mol mol⁻¹ (SD = 5), the leaf-to-air vapor pressure difference was 2.0 kPa (SD = 0.4), and the leaf temperature was 32°C (SD = 2). Net CO₂ assimilation was measured on 16 leaflets on each tree, selected at four intercardinal positions (north-east, north-west, south-west, and south-east), two heights (the upper and lower halves of the crown) and two leaf whorls (first and second whorls), see Figure 13.



Figure 13 Leaf photosynthesis of rubber tree by using a portable gas exchange analyzer (Li6400XT; LI-COR Lincoln, NE, USA).

2.5 Crown leaf area and mass

The periodic pattern of rubber shoot development (Combe and du Plessix 1974; Hallé and Martin 1968) gives the branches a sub-verticillate arrangement (whorl). In a given clone, the number of leaves per whorl is rather stable, resulting in a good correlation between the number of whorls counted by sight and the leaf area of a tree. Therefore, the total leaf area (A_L) was estimated using the equation proposed by Srisondee (2019) which makes it possible to predict the leaf area with excellent accuracy. They reported a root mean squared error of 3.8 ($R^2 = 0.95$) when the leaf areas measured on 38 trees were compared to the predicted values using Equation 4:

$$A_L = 0.01948 \times C_{170}^{1.298} \times F_{>3}^{0.5042}$$
^[4]

where $F_{>3}$ is the number of leaf whorls with more than three leaves and C₁₇₀ is the trunk girth at 1.7 m from the ground. Total leaf biomass (B_L) was estimated from A_L by considering the relationship between leaf biomass and the leaf area of foliage samples collected for ¹³C analysis.

2.6 Sample collection and preparation for ¹³C analyses

Leaf samples (bulk leaf and leaf polar fraction)

Leaves were collected from each tree before labelling (D–1) and immediately after labelling (D0) and 24, 48 and 96 h after labelling. Two samples were collected from each tree at each sampling date, except at D0 when four samples were collected. Each sample comprised eight leaves, each leaf comprising three large leaflets, sampled from eight different positions in the crown (in the lower and upper crown sections in the same four intercardinal positions as mentioned earlier).

The leaf samples were immediately stored in a chilled box and transported to the laboratory where leaf area was measured using a leaf area meter (LI-3100C; LI-COR; USA). The samples were dried in a microwave oven at 800 W for 2 min, weighed

and then ground into fine powder using a ball-grinder (MM 400; Retsch, Haan, Germany). The leaf mass per area (LMA) was calculated as the ratio of leaf dry mass to leaf area of the sampled leaves to estimate total leaf biomass of tree crowns.

The ¹³C analyses were performed by placing tin capsules containing 1 mg of dry leaf powder in an elemental analyzer coupled to a continuous flow isotope ratio mass spectrometer (vario ISOTOPE cube coupled to the IsoPrime 100; IsoPrime Ltd; Cheadle, UK).

The leaf polar fraction (PF, including soluble sugars, amino acids and organic acids) was specifically purified from dry leaf by the sequential biochemical procedure based on the polar properties of compounds of interest described in Desalme et a. (2017). Briefly, an initial extraction of 100 mg of dry powder in 800 μ L methanol/chloroform/water (MCW, 12/5/3, v/v/v) was performed to separate soluble and insoluble compounds. The compounds soluble in MCW were further separated according to their polarity by adding 1 mL of methanol/chloroform (1/1, v/v) and 400 μ L of ultra-pure water. After decantation and centrifugation (2,000 g, 5 min, 15°C), the upper phase containing polar compounds (PF) was recovered and dried under vacuum centrifugation (vacuum concentrator CentriVap, LabConco, Kansas City, MO, USA). The dried PF was diluted with ultra-pure water and an aliquot corresponding to 0.6 mg of dry extract was transferred into a tin capsule (Elemental Microanalysis, Cambridge, UK; 6 × 4 mm; ref. D1006 BN/139877), freeze-dried followed by ¹³C analysis of the leaf PF.

Bark extract samples

A piece of bark (about 2.7–4 cm²) was collected from each tree at a height of 180 cm above the ground (60 cm above the tapping cut) the day before labelling (D–1) and 24, 48, 72 and 120–168 h after labelling (Figure 14). The change in the date of the last sampling was due to operational constraints. Soluble compounds were extracted from the bark using the exudation method (Dannoura et al. 2011, 2019). Briefly, the samples were infused in 2 mL of distilled water at ambient temperature in the dark for

5 h. The piece of bark was then removed, oven-dried at 65 °C and weighed. The extracts were filtered through nylon cartridges (Whatman, 0.2 μ m, diameter 25 mm), vacuumevaporated for 4 h (Maxi-Dry plus, HetoHolten, Allerod, Denmark) and weighed. The dried extracts were diluted with ultra-pure water and an aliquot corresponding to 0.6 mg of dry extract was transferred into a tin capsule, freeze-dried and followed by ¹³C analysis of the bark extract.



Figure 14 Bark sampling (left), a piece of bark was collected from each tree at a height of 180 cm above the ground and was infused in 2 mL of distilled water (right).

Latex samples

Latex was collected from the trunk of each tree the day before labelling (D–1) and several times over a period of 1 year after labelling at a decreasing frequency (every day during the first 3 days, every 3 days for 2 weeks, every 6 days for 1 month and every 15 days until the end of January 2018 (580 days after labelling in June and 480 day after labelling in October). Except for the first 3 days after labelling, latex samples were always collected on a tapping day at 6.30 h., i.e., before tapping. No

samples were taken during the period when the trees were not tapped (i.e. during the dry season, February–April, 2017). Latex was collected by inserting a small plastic cannula (internal diameter 2 mm) into the bark of the trunk at a height of 115 cm above the ground (Figure 15), i.e. 5 cm below the downward tapping cut, because this is the main latex drainage and latex regeneration area (d'Auzac 1989).

The two first drops were discarded and the two following drops were collected for 13 C analysis of the total organic matter in latex (hereafter called 'bulk latex') in a tube containing 1 mL of distilled water as described in Kanpanon et al (2015) and Duangngam et al. (2020). Twenty microliters of the latex solution were transferred into a tin capsule and oven dried at 50 °C overnight.



Figure 15 Latex sampling, trunk latex was collected by inserting a small plastic cannula into the bark of the trunk 5 cm below the tapping cut.

The next 10 drops were collected for ${}^{13}C$ analysis of rubber and serum in a tube containing 2 mL of sulphuric acid (0.6 M H₂SO₄) that was shaken and stored at 4 °C until processed. Mineral acid was used to coagulate the rubber and separate it from serum instead of the usual organic acid (trichloroacetic acid) to avoid adding C that would have changed the carbon isotopic content. The coagulated rubber was neutralised

by soaking it in water, oven dried at 70 °C for 24 h, and 0.7 mg was placed in a tin capsule. The solution of H_2SO_4 containing the serum was filtered through nylon cartridges (Whatman, 0.2 µm, diameter 25 mm) and used for ¹³C analysis of serum.

Trunk samples

Trunk cores were taken at a height of 170-180 cm above the ground (0.5 cm diameter, 3.5 cm long including 0.5 cm of bark and 3 cm of wood) with a wood auger the day before labelling (D–1) and 1 week, 1 month, 4 months and 7 months after labelling (Figure 16). No trunk sampling was performed after 7 months in trees labelled in October. The trunk samples were immediately placed in a chilled box, stored at – 20 °C until they were freeze-dried (Benchtop, Cryotec, Saint-Gély-du-Fesc, France), and ground. The trunk PF (including soluble sugars, amino acids and organic acids), structural compounds (ST) and carbohydrate reserves (including starch) were purified from 100 mg of dry trunk powder following the protocol described in Desalme et al (2017).

An initial extraction was performed in 800 μ L MCW (12/5/3, v/v/v) to separate soluble and insoluble compounds. As described above for leaf samples, the compounds soluble in MCW were further separated according to their polarity by adding 1 mL of methanol/chloroform (l/l, v/v) and 400 µL of ultra-pure water. After decantation and centrifugation (2,000 g, 5 min, 15°C), the upper phase containing polar compounds was recovered. The compounds insoluble in MCW were sequentially separated. Proteins and pigments were discarded by dissolution in 300 µL of phosphate buffer. The remaining pellet after protein extraction was washed several times with hot ethanol to remove pigments, hydrolysed by acid treatment (1 mL 6 M HCl for 1 h) and centrifuged at 12,000 g for 30 min at 4°C. The HCl-hydrolysable fraction contained in the supernatant was precipitated with absolute methanol for one night at 4°C and then collected by centrifugation (12,000 g, 10 min, 4°C). The HCl-hydrolysable fraction contained starch, but also probably products derived from hydrolysis of hemicellulose, pectin, and gums (Richter et al. 2009), and constitutes the fraction called hereafter 'carbohydrate reserves' (CR). The remaining pellet after acid hydrolysis contained non HCl-hydrolysable structural compounds (ST). PF, CR and ST were vacuum-evaporated

(vacuum concentrator CentriVap, LabConco, Kansas City, MO, USA). Aliquots of dry CR and dry ST were placed in tin capsules for ¹³C analysis. The dried PF was diluted with ultra-pure water and an aliquot corresponding to 0.6 mg of dry extract was transferred into tin capsules, freeze-dried followed by ¹³C analysis of the trunk PF. The soluble sugars and carbohydrate reserves in the trunks were extracted from 20 mg of trunk dry powder using methanol 70 % following a protocol adapted from Shvaleva et al. (2006). After centrifugation of the extract (18,000 rpm, 10 min, 4°C), soluble sugars were recovered in the supernatant (supernatant 1) and carbohydrate reserves in the pellet. The carbohydrate reserves contained in the pellet were hydrolysed with hydrochloric acid 2% (100°C; 1 h) into soluble sugars and recovered in the supernatant (supernatant 2) after centrifugation. The concentrations of soluble sugars in both supernatants were assayed using the anthrone method (Yemm and Willis 1954).



Figure 16 Trunk wood sampling, trunk cores were taken at a height of 170–180 cm above the ground with a wood auger (left), a piece of sample was 0.5 cm diameter, 3.5 cm long including 0.5 cm of bark and 3 cm of wood (right).

2.7 ¹³C analyses and calculations

All the ¹³C analyses will be performed by placing tin capsules containing 0.6– 1 mg of dry material in an elemental analyser coupled to a continuous flow isotope ratio mass spectrometer (vario ISOTOPE cube coupled to the IsoPrime100, IsoPrime Ltd, Cheadle, UK), see Figure 17 using an internal working standard that was related to the international Vienna Pee Dee Belemnite reference (VPDB). The carbon isotope composition (δ^{13} C) was expressed relative to this reference using Equation 1:

$$\delta^{13}C_{sample} = [R_{sample}/R_{standard}) - 1]$$
[1]

The precision of the analyses (standard deviation), based on the repeated measurements (n = 12) of our internal standard during each sample run, was below 0.1 ‰.

The ¹³C atom fraction, $x(^{13}C)$, was calculated from the carbon isotope composition ($\delta^{13}C$), expressed relative to the isotope ratio of the Vienna Pee Dee Belemnite standard (RVPDB = 0.0111802) (Coplen et al. 2002) using Equation 5:

$$x({}^{13}C) = \frac{{}^{13}C}{{}^{12}C + {}^{13}C} = \frac{\left(\delta^{13}C + 1\right) \times R_{\rm VPDB}}{\left[\left(\delta^{13}C + 1\right) \times R_{\rm VPDB}\right] + 1}$$
[5]

The excess ¹³C atom fraction, $(x^E({}^{13}C))$ was calculated as the difference between $x({}^{13}C)$ of each sample collected from labelled trees and $x({}^{13}C)$ measured in the same compartment before labelling (at D–1), multiplied by the carbon content of each sample (C) and the each sample mass (M), $x^E({}^{13}C)$ was expressed in mg¹³C g⁻¹C. In the foliage and in bark extract, $x^E({}^{13}C)$ was also expressed in mg 13 C g⁻¹ dry mass by considering the C content of the compartment. The total amount of 13 C in leaves at D0 (Crown 13 C; Table 3), was calculated from $x^E({}^{13}C)$ (expressed in mg 13 C g⁻¹ dry leaf) multiplied by total leaf biomass using Equation 6:

$$x^{E}(^{13}C) = \sum \left(x(^{13}C)_{lab} - x(^{13}C)_{unl} \right) \times C \times M$$
[6]



Figure 17 Isotope Ratio Mass Spectrometer (IsoPrime 100, IsoPrime Ltd, UK)

2.8 Analysis of tracer kinetics

The temporal dynamics of $x^E({}^{13}C)$ in the foliage (bulk and PF), in the bark extract, in the serum and in trunk PF was fitted with an exponential decay function (Epron et al. 2016) as follows Equation 7:

$$x^{E}(^{13}C) = C_{1} \exp\left(\frac{-t}{MRT}\right) + C_{2}$$
[7]

where C_1 is the initial amount of label assigned to a rapid turnover ¹³C pool; C_2 is the amount of label assigned to a slow turnover ¹³C pool (expressed in mg ¹³C g⁻¹ dry mass in leaves and in bark; or in mg ¹³C g⁻¹ C in serum and in trunk PF); t is the time elapsed after labelling; MRT is the mean residence time (expressed in hours in foliage and bark or in days in serum and trunk PF). The sum of C_1 and C_2 is the total amount of ¹³C in each compartment. The temporal dynamics of $x^{E}({}^{13}C)$ in rubber and latex was fitted with an equation that included a logistic rise and an exponential decrease (Dannoura et al. 2019; Studer et al. 2014) using Equation 8:

$$x^{E}(^{13}C) = A \times \frac{\exp\left(\frac{-t-B}{MRT}\right)}{1+\exp(-C \times (t-B))}$$
[8]

where A is the theoretical maximum amount of ¹³C at the peak (mg ¹³C g⁻¹C); B is the peak time (days); C is the constant rate of the ¹³C accumulation (mg ¹³C day⁻¹); *t* is the time elapsed after labelling (days); MRT is the mean residence time (days). The short-term dynamics can be described by three phases: (i) lag phase (time needed for C transfer), (ii) phase dominated by ¹³C import or net accumulation and (iii) a phase dominated by ¹³C export or stationary phase (equilibrium between ¹³C import and export).

2.9 Statistical analyses

All statistical analyses was performed using R 4.1.0 software (R Development Core Team, 2021). Linear models (based on the "lm" function in R) were used to estimate the initial slopes of the decrease in CO₂ concentration with time in the chamber. Significant differences in crown photosynthesis and excess ¹³C in leaves between June and October were assessed using an analysis of variance (based on the "aov" function in R). A linear mixed-effects model with trees as the random effect was used to test for differences in the isotope composition of leaves between June and October (based on the "lmer" function in Ime4 package in R).

The effects of position in the crown and the orientation or whorl on leaf photosynthesis were assessed using linear mixed-effects models with trees as the random effect. Linear regression between crown photosynthesis and either photosynthetic photon flux density, total leaf area, or the average net CO₂ assimilation of leaves were calculated based on the "lm".

Mixed-effect models, with trees as random effect, were used to estimate the effect of the labelling period (June or October) and time after labelling as the fixed effect on $x^{E}(^{13}C)$ in tree compartments (leaf, bark extract, latex and trunk) using the lmer function in the 'lmer4' package (Bates et al. 2014). Contrasts were used to test relevant differences when the overall model was significant (P < 0.05). Exponential decay functions and the logistic function was fitted to $x^{E}(^{13}C)$ using the nonlinear least-square method (nls function in the 'stats' package). Model parameters in the exponential decay model (C1, MRT, C2) and in the logistic model (A, B, C, MRT) will be tested for significance (P < 0.05), as well as the model itself (r^2 and root mean square error). At first, models were fitted on the whole dataset either without considering possible variations of model parameters between the two labelling periods or allowing the model parameters to adjust specifically for June and October labelling, using dummy variables. In all cases except for trunk PF, allowing the model parameters to adjust specifically provided a better adjustment (lower Akaike information criterion, AIC). We therefore further adjusted parameters of all models independently for June and October, except for trunk PF. Model parameters are reported with their 95% confidence intervals.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

1. Measuring photosynthesis of entire tree crowns and pulse label trees in large closed-chamber with ¹³CO₂ in the field: Design and testing

1.1 Environmental condition in chamber

The light transmission in the photosynthetically active range of radiation (PAR) of the polyethylene film used for the chamber walls was, as expected for this type of material, over 90 % of incoming photosynthetic photon flux density (PPFD, Figure 8). In addition, polyethylene is known to have only little impact on the spectral composition of the PAR passing through the film (Corelli-Grappadelli and Magnanini 1993). The air temperature (T_{air}) in the chambers was on average 1.2 °C above the temperature measured outside the chamber, with a maximum observed positive deviation of 3 °C during the approximately 90 minutes the chambers were closed (Figure 18 and Table 2). This indicated that the power of the air-conditioning system was strong enough to maintain the ambient temperature in large, unshaded crown chambers in tropical conditions. However, the counterpart of this efficiency was a fairly substantial drop in RH, which also showed rapid variations of large amplitudes due to the intermittent operation of the air conditioner (Figure 18). If, on average, the decrease in RH was limited to 8 %, the maximum drop during a cooling cycle could temporarily exceed 30 %. The main limitation of this system is that although the temperature was properly controlled, the air RH showed large fluctuations. The performance can be improved in the future by adding an ultrasonic mist generator controlled by a humidity probe.

1.2 Response of crown photosynthesis to decreased CO₂ concentration

The decrease in CO₂ concentration for the tree that was not labelled with ¹³CO₂ was monitored for 82 minutes until the concentration in the chamber decreased from near ambient (385 μ mol mol⁻¹) to below 100 μ mol mol⁻¹ (Figure 9A). During the measurement, T_{air}, RH and PPFD averaged 30 °C (SD = 1.3), 51 % (SD = 11) and 1,330

μmol m⁻² s⁻¹ (SD = 630), respectively. The decrease in CO₂ concentration in the chamber was not linear and was best predicted by a third-degree polynomial function, with its first derivative being the slope $(\frac{\Delta[CO_2]}{\Delta t})$ which can be used in Equation 3 to calculate crown photosynthesis. Crown photosynthesis decreased when the CO₂ concentration decreased in the chamber, as expected for a C3 plant (Figure 19B). The CO₂ compensation concentration when the net crown photosynthesis reached 0 (when gross photosynthesis and respiration were balanced) was 70 μmol mol⁻¹. This value was in the upper range of typical values for leaves of C3 plants, which was expected because the crown also included branches that add additional CO₂ loss through their respiration (Bravdo 1971).

Table 2 The meteorological conditions recorded on the day of labelling. Mean air temperature (T_{air}), mean relative air humidity (RH) and mean photosynthetically active radiation (PAR). Subscripts In and Out mean inside and outside the chamber, respectively.

Date	Tree	T _{air-In}	$\mathrm{RH}_{\mathrm{In}}$	PAR _{In}	T _{air-Out}	RH _{Out}	PAR _{Out}
		(°C)	(%)	$(\mu mol m^{-2} s^{-1})$	(°C)	(%)	$(\mu mol m^{-2} s^{-1})$
25 Jun	#1	29.9	74	706	29.7	72	867
26 Jun	#2	30.2	64	775	29.5	76	882
27 Jun	#3	28.7	76	549	28.1	82	691
5 Oct	#4	32.0	55	1,000	30.7	72	1,049
6 Oct	#5	30.5	68	732	28.7	76	849
7 Oct	#6	30.6	61	803	28.5	74	919



Figure 18 Air temperature (T_{air}), relative humidity (RH), and photosynthetic photon flux density (PPFD) recorded inside (solid lines) and outside (dotted lines) closed chamber. Trees #1 – #3 measured in June and trees #4 – #6 were measured in October. Black horizontal bar at top of each panel indicates when crown CO₂ exchange rate was calculated from decrease in CO₂ concentration in chamber. Two vertical arrows indicate beginning and end of ¹³CO₂ injection.



Figure 19 (A) Decrease in CO₂ concentration in chamber for 82 minutes after closure until concentration decreased from ambient to below 100 μmol mol⁻¹. (B) First derivative of third-degree polynomial function fitted to decrease in CO₂ concentration and used to calculate crown photosynthesis (P_{crown}) based on Equation 3. Measurement made on June 14 on tree (#7 in Table 1) not labelled with ¹³CO₂.

1.3 Variations of crown photosynthesis among trees at near ambient CO₂ concentration

The decrease in CO_2 concentration was monitored for 10–20 minutes on six trees that were labelled with ¹³CO₂ immediately after (Figure 20). The initial linear slope of the decrease of CO_2 concentration was used to calculate crown photosynthesis.



Figure 20 Decrease in CO₂ concentration in chamber for 10–20 minutes after closure and before injecting ¹³CO₂. Closed circles are measurements and solid lines are adjusted linear relationships between time and CO₂ concentrations. Trees #1 – #3 measured in June and trees #4 – #6 measured in October.

On average, crown photosynthesis was 183 μ mol s⁻¹ with a mean photon flux density during all measurements of 700 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹. With a tree spacing of 7 m in rows 2.5 m apart, this was equivalent to 10.5 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ on a ground area basis. Eddy flux tower estimates of gross primary production (GPP) at the same light intensity in a nearby 27-year-old rubber plantation was about 20 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ from May to October (Wang et al. 2022). Two reasons could explain this twice as high value. First, net crown photosynthesis is the balance between gross leaf photosynthesis and crown respiration (leaves and branches), while respiration is not included in the GPP estimate. Second, the trees in the 27-year-old plantation were much taller (more than 20 m) and had a completely closed canopy with a maximum leaf area index of 6.2 during the rainy season (Wang et al. 2022), whereas canopy cover was only about 70 % of the ground area in the current experiment.

Crown photosynthesis varied between the six trees, but no significant differences were found between trees measured in June and those measured in October (P = 0.18). The variation of crown photosynthesis was well explained by the differences

in the average photon flux density between the different dates of measurement, as reflected by significant positive relationships ($R^2 = 0.84$ and P = 0.01 with PPFD measured outside the chamber, Figure 21A; $R^2 = 0.78$ and P = 0.02 with PPFD measured inside the chamber). Crown photosynthesis was not related to the RH inside the chamber (P = 0.14), but unexpectedly was related to RH measured outside the chamber ($R^2 = 0.76$ and P = 0.03), which could be explained by the strong negative correlation between photon flux density and relative humidity (R = -0.88, P = 0.02). In other words, a lower RH was recorded when conditions during the measurement were very sunny than when there was intermittent cloud cover. Although the effect of photon flux density was dominant, there was also a positive trend between crown photosynthesis and whole tree leaf area ($R^2 = 0.53$ and P = 0.09, Figure 21B).

1.4 Variations of leaf photosynthesis between and within tree crowns, and relationship with crown photosynthesis

Crown photosynthesis was also positively related to mean leaf photosynthesis ($R^2 = 0.58$ and P = 0.07, Figure 21C). Mean leaf photosynthesis exhibited large differences between the six tree crowns as shown above (Figure 21C), in the range 4.9–11.4 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹. These values were in agreement with measurements conducted on seedlings and mature rubber trees (Alam, Nair, and Jacob 2005; Chen et al. 2010; Kositsup et al. 2009, 2010; Senevirathna, Stirling, and Rodrigo 2003). Within-crown variations were less pronounced than between-crown variations. Neither the position in the crown (upper or lower half of the crown), nor the orientation (north-east, north-west, south-west, or south-east), nor the whorl (first or second whorls) significantly influenced leaf photosynthesis (P > 0.1). This last result was in agreement with the lack of variation in the leaf nitrogen content per unit area with leaf age (Kositsup et al. 2009).



Figure 21 Relationship between crown photosynthesis (P_{crown}) and (A), photosynthetic photon flux density (PPFD), (B) total leaf area, and (C) average net CO₂ assimilation of 16 leaves for each tree (P_{leaf}; horizontal bars represent standard errors of mean). Circles show trees measured in June and triangles show trees measured in October. Linear regression lines are shown in each panel.

1.5 ¹³C recovered in leaves

The total amounts of ¹³C recovered in tree leaves, $x^E({}^{13}C)$, were in the range 4.0–6.3 g tree⁻¹ (Table 3), representing 43–68 % of the ¹³CO₂ injected in the chamber. Not all the injected ¹³CO₂ was supposed to be recovered in the foliage, because it was diluted in the pre-existing ¹²CO₂ in the chamber (330 ppm on average) and not all the ¹³CO₂ was assimilated by leaves before the chamber was opened. As mentioned above, it was not possible to measure the ¹³CO₂ concentration in the chamber because of the low sensitivity of the gas analyzer to ¹³CO₂. However, based on the rates of injection of ¹³CO₂ and crown photosynthesis measured before injecting ¹³CO₂, the remaining mass of ¹³C in the chamber at the opening time was estimated at 3.2 ± 0.3 g. Thus, the total amounts of ¹³C recovered in tree leaves accounted for 89 % of the assimilated ¹³CO₂ on average after accounting for the mass of ¹³C remaining in the chamber. The fact that 43–68 % of the injected ¹³CO₂ was recovered in the leaves after the end of labelling highlighted the effectiveness of the design of the chamber and the labelling protocol.

The total amounts of ¹³C recovered from the tree leaves, $x^{E}({}^{13}C)$, were significantly higher in June than in October (5.8 ± 0.4 and 4.3 ± 0.2 g tree⁻¹, respectively, n = 6, P = 0.03), despite no significant differences in crown photosynthesis. The amounts of ¹³C recovered in the tree leaves represented 63 % of the ¹³C injected in the chamber in June on average, and 46 % in October. The reason for this difference remains unknown; however, seasonal differences in ¹³C losses by either respiration or emission of volatile organic compounds cannot be excluded. Rubber trees are indeed strong emitters of isoprene and monoterpenes, especially in the wet season (Baker et al. 2005; Wang et al. 2007).

Table 3 Isotope composition (δ^{13} C) of leaves collected immediately after labelling (mean ± standard error for 4 composite leaf samples for each tree) and excess ¹³C in whole foliage of trees, $x^{E}(^{13}C)$, for 3 trees labelled in June, 2016 and 3 trees labelled in October, 2016. Numbers in bracket represent efficiency of labelling, calculated as ratio between $x^{E}(^{13}C)$ and the amount of ¹³C injected in chamber. Differences between June and October tested using mixed-effect model with tree as random effect for $\delta^{13}C$ and linear model for, $x^{E}(^{13}C)$.

Month	Tree	$\delta^{13}C$	$x^E(^{13}C)$
		(‰)	(g tree ⁻¹)
June	#1	432 ± 23	6.2 (68 %)
	#2	377 ± 11	5.0 (54 %)
	#3	443 ±1 0	6.3 (69 %)
	#4	237 ± 19	4.1 (44 %)
October	#5	307 ± 11	4.7 (51 %)
	#6	272 ± 7	4.0 (43 %)
Month	F-values	25.7	10.3
Effect	P-values	0.007	0.03

Note: F-values are the ratio of the between-group to the within-group variances of the linear model and the P-values are the probability of obtaining these F-values if the difference between the two months are not significant.

2. In situ ¹³CO₂ pulse labelling of rubber trees reveals a shift in the contribution of carbon sources in latex regeneration

2.1 The excess ¹³C in the compartment of rubber trees

Excess ¹³C in foliage

The total amount of ¹³C assimilated by trees (Crown ¹³C or $x^E({}^{13}C)$) varied between 4.0 and 6.3 g tree⁻¹ (Table 4). In leaves, the ¹³C recovered in total organic matter (bulk) and polar compounds (PF) both in June and October decreased rapidly in the first 48 h after pulse labelling and remained relatively stable in the following hours (Figure. 22A and Figure 22B). The labelling period (LP; June vs October) had a significant effect on the excess ¹³C recovered in bulk leaves and leaf PF and the decrease in ¹³C excess over time differed in June and October (significant interactions between time and LP) (Figure 22A and Figure 22B; P<0.05). These decreases were adequately described by a two-pool exponential decay model (Equation 7) both in June and October (Table 4). In bulk leaves, there was more ¹³C per unit dry matter partitioned in the rapid turnover ¹³C pool (C1) in June than in October (the 95% confidence intervals did not overlap) but the mean residence time of ¹³C (MRT) in this pool did not differ between June and October (the 95% confidence intervals overlapped, Table 4).

In bulk leaves and leaf PF, ¹³C reached asymptotic C2 values that differed significantly from 0, indicating that a fraction of the assimilated ¹³C was recovered in the rather stable pool. There was no difference in the C2 values in June and October (Table 4).

Excess ¹³C in bark extract

The excess ¹³C recovered in bark extract was maximal one day after labelling and decreased thereafter both in June and October (Figure 22C). This decrease was



Figure 22 Short-term dynamics of excess ¹³C (x^E(¹³C)), expressed in mg ¹³C g⁻¹ dry mass, after ¹³CO₂ pulse labelling of rubber trees) in June (open circles) and in October (filled circles) in (A) total organic matter of leaves (bulk leaves), (B) leaf polar fraction (PF), and (C) bark extract fraction. PF includes soluble sugars, amino and organic acids. Data represent means ±SE (n=3 trees). For the last sampling of bark extract, the three values from the three replicates trees (which were sampled respectively 120, 144, or 168 h after labelling) were pooled and placed at 144 h on the graph. Asterisks indicate significant effect of the labelling period (LP), time and the LP–time interaction on excess ¹³C in bulk leaves, leaf PF and bark extract (**P<0.01, ***P<0.001).

adequately described by an exponential decay model in which the C2 parameter characterizing the slow turnover pool was not significantly different from 0 (Table 4) indicating that assimilated ¹³C was not recovered in a rather stable pool. MRT was not different in June (38.8 h) or in October (45.3 h) but higher than in leaves (Table 4).

Excess ¹³C in latex

 13 C enrichment of bulk latex, rubber and serum was observed one day after labelling (Figure 23). Excess 13 C and 13 C dynamics in bulk latex and rubber were close and were adequately described by combining a logistic rise and an exponential decay model (Equation 8). In both compartments, peak $x^{E}(^{13}C)$ was reached faster and was higher in trees labelled in October than in trees labelled in June (Figure 23A and Figure 23B; Table 5). Moreover, MRT of 13 C in latex and rubber was 2-fold longer in trees labelled in June (38.9 and 37.3 days; Table 3) than in trees labelled in October (17.3 and 15.9 days; Table 5).

The dynamics of ¹³C in serum differed from those in bulk latex and rubber (Figure 23). The initial value of excess ¹³C recovered in serum was higher in trees labelled in June than in trees labelled in October (Figure 23C and Table 5). $x^{E}(^{13}C)$ decreased rapidly in the serum in the first three days after labelling and remained rather stable over the following 60 days both in June and October (Figure 23C). The decrease was adequately described by a two-pool exponential decay model in which C2 accounted for only 3% of the total ¹³C in June and for 4% in October (Table 5). The MRT of the mobile pool of ¹³C in serum was lower in trees labelled in June (9.7 days) than in trees labelled in October (16.6 days). The MRT of ¹³C was shorter in serum than in latex/rubber in the trees labelled in June, whereas there was no difference in the MRT of ¹³C between serum and latex/rubber in the trees labelled in October (Table 4 and Table 5).



Figure 23 Time courses of excess ¹³C ($x^{E}(^{13}C)$), after ¹³CO₂ pulse labelling of rubber trees (*Hevea brasiliensis* Muell.Arg.) in June (open circles) and in October (filled circles) in (A) latex, (B) rubber, and (C) serum. Data represent means ±SE (n=3 tree). The selected period was justified by the stability of $x^{E}(^{13}C)$ in latex, serum, and rubber after 150 days considering the actual scale of the graphs. Asterisks indicate a significant effect of the labelling period (LP), time and the LP–time interaction on excess ¹³C in latex, rubber, and serum (ns, P>0.05; *P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001).
Excess ¹³C in the trunk and carbohydrate concentrations

The concentrations of soluble sugars and carbohydrate reserves in the trunks did not differ between trees labelled in June and trees labelled in October (Figure 24). The concentrations of soluble sugars did not change over the tapping season (around 20 mg g⁻¹ dry mass) whereas the concentrations of carbohydrate reserves increased throughout the tapping season (Figure 24).

Enrichment in ¹³C was observed in the total organic matter of the trunk cores in the samples collected one week after labelling (Figure 25A) and in the purified fractions: polar fraction (PF; Figure 25B), structural compounds (ST; Figure 25C) and carbohydrate reserves (CR; Figure 25D). The excess ¹³C in trunk PF reached higher values (1.3–1.6 mg ¹³C g⁻¹ C) than in the other trunk fractions (maximum of 0.3 mg ¹³C g⁻¹ C). Excess ¹³C in PF decreased significantly (by 80%) 40 days after labelling (Figure 25B) and the ¹³C dynamics at both labelling periods was adequately described by a single exponential one-pool decay model (Table 4) with a MRT of 21.9 days (Table 4). In carbohydrate reserves, excess ¹³C was significantly higher in trees labelled in June than in trees labelled in October (Figure 25D). There was no clear temporal dynamics of the excess ¹³C in the total organic matter or in structural compounds, and in addition, no difference between trees labelled in June or in October (Figure 25A).

2.2 Tracing the fate and dynamics of ¹³C in tapped rubber trees from the leaves to latex

All the studied compartments in the young rubber trees were rapidly supplied with recently photo-assimilated ¹³C (Figure 23, Figure 24 and Figure 25). The amount of excess ¹³C recovered in the total organic matter of leaves (bulk leaves) and in the leaf polar fraction (PF) decreased rapidly just after labelling following a two-pool exponential decay model (Figure 22A and 22B, Table 4). This highlights the contribution of recently assimilated C in two types of C-molecules which differ in their MRTs or turnover rates in the rubber tree leaves. Most of the recent C (75–80% of the bulk fraction, 85–90% of polar fraction, Table 4) was invested in molecules that are

observed in boreal, temperate and tropical species (Dannoura et al. 2019; Desalme et al. 2017; Epron, Bahn, et al. 2012; Epron et al. 2016; Warren et al. 2012). Recently assimilated C also provides 'building blocks' for constructing

Recently assimilated C also provides 'building blocks' for constructing molecules with slower turnover, such as structural compounds, lipids and some proteins. In rubber tree leaves, 20-25% of the recently assimilated C was incorporated in these slow-turnover molecules (Table 4). In rubber, leaf flushes occur every two to three months and grow regularly (Hallé & Martin, 1968). Incorporation of ¹³C in structural compounds was therefore expected after both June and October labelling. Rubber tree leaves contain rubber producing laticifers that remain in the leaf for a long time if the leaf is not injured (Webster and Baulkwill 1989). Rubber tree leaves also contain several other secondary metabolites including tannins, saponins, sterols, resins and flavonoids (Abulude, 2007; Wigati et al, 2014), which also contribute to the slow turnover pool. Part of the sucrose may not be exported from the leaves but stored in leaf vacuoles (Farrar and Farrar 1986), and further used to produce latex or cyanogenic monoglucosides in leaves (Kongsawadworakul et al. 2009). Some of these slow turning compounds are soluble in polar solvent and contribute 10-15% of the labelled C in the polar fraction (Table 4). Excess ¹³C in bark extract peaked rapidly after labelling and disappeared completely (one-pool decay model) with a MRT of about two days (Figure 22C, Table 4), showing that the labelled molecules arrived promptly in this compartment and were rapidly exported from it. This confirmed that the bark extract was mostly made up of phloem sap (Gessler, Rennenberg, and Keitel 2004). The short MRT of ¹³C in the bark extract of rubber trees is similar to that reported in several other tree species (Dannoura et al. 2011, 2019; Epron et al. 2016; Gessler et al. 2004; Högberg et al. 2008). Sucrose is the main carbohydrate transported in rubber trees (Tupý 1985; Zhu et al. 2018) but some of the cyanogenic monoglucosides, which are produced in the foliage, are also exported from the leaves and transported in the form of diglucosides in the phloem sap (Selmar, Lieberei, and Biehl 1988). They are

rapidly exported from the foliage via respiration, phloem transport or emission of

volatile organic compounds (VOCs), especially in rubber trees which are strong

emitters of isoprene and monoterpenes (Baker et al. 2005; Wang et al. 2007). The MRT

of these compounds in the leaves was short (20-28 h, Table 4), as is commonly

The dynamics of excess ¹³C in the rubber particles (Figure 23B) clearly drove the dynamics of excess ¹³C in the bulk latex (Figure 23A), which was expected because rubber particles are rich in C (80%) and account for 90% of the dry latex (Hepper and Audley 1969). As latex flows out of the tree only when the bark is cut (under tapping), the dynamics of ¹³C in the latex results from inputs of photosynthates and reserves over time and losses in the form of the latex exported at each tapping day. Such dynamics of C in latex only concern the area of the trunk where there is regeneration of latex, i.e., the area of the trunk located some centimeters below the tapping cut (d'Auzac 1989). Therefore, the MRT of ¹³C in latex is hypothesized to be infinite in untapped trees and in the region of the trunk far away from regeneration area in tapped trees but is likely to change in the regeneration area of tapped trees depending on the tapping system, particularly tapping frequency. Serum accounts for a minor part of the C content of bulk latex and the dynamics of excess ¹³C in the serum was very different from those of latex (Figure 23C). Serum is the cytoplasm of the laticifers, and thus contains many of the substances normally found in plant cells, including carbohydrates, amino acids, proteins, organic acids, inorganic salts, lipids, nucleotides and nucleic acids (Archer et al. 1969). The amount of excess ¹³C recovered in serum started to decrease just a few days after labelling (one day in June and three days in October), following a two-pool exponential decay model (Figure 23C, Table 4). The excess ¹³C started to be recovered in rubber within one to two days after labelling (Figure 23B), indicating that part of the ¹³C recovered in serum was directly incorporated in rubber. Sucrose provides the carbon skeleton and energy supply for biosynthesis (d'Auzac et al. 1997).

However, in the rubber, the excess ¹³C peak was reached later (6.6 days after labelling in June and 4.2 days in October, Table 5) and ¹³C was still found in the rubber more than 100 days after labelling (Figure 23B). These results confirm the hypothesis that rubber C does not only come from recent photosynthates, but also

from a pool of reserves where recent carbon is mixed with older carbon as suggested by Kanpanon et al (2015).

In the trunk of the rubber tree, ¹³C-labelled compounds were found as early as six days after labelling in the polar fraction (PF), structural compounds (ST) and carbohydrate reserves (CR), and ¹³C was still detected 210 days after labelling (Figure 25A–D). The excess ¹³C in the trunk PF (one-pool decay model) decreased rapidly (MRT of ¹³C was 19–25 days) (Figure 25B, Table 4) whereas excess ¹³C evolved more slowly in structural compounds and carbohydrate reserves (Figure 25C and Figure 25D). Our results confirmed that rubber trees store large amounts of carbohydrate reserves in trunk parenchyma, especially during the tapping period (Figure 24). This seasonal trends are similar to those previously noted for starch (Chantuma et al. 2009; Silpi et al. 2007). Starch stored in the trunk parenchyma is therefore a good candidate for the supply of C for latex biosynthesis.

2.3 Temporal variation in allocation and dynamics of ¹³C

There was no difference in the mean residence time (MRT) of ¹³C in the foliage and in the phloem sap between June and October (Table 4). The MRT of ¹³C in serum was longer in October than in June (Table 4), whereas the MRT of ¹³C in rubber particles and bulk latex were shorter in October than in June (Table 5). Seasonal changes in climatic conditions are known to influence the dynamics of C transport and allocation in trees (Dannoura et al. 2011; Epron et al. 2016; Epron, Laclau, et al. 2012; Ruehr et al. 2009).

110994390	
	KU
	iThesis
	6017100068
	thesis
	~
	recv:
	14072566
	00:57:08
	\sim
	seq:
	45

Table 4 Kinetic parameters of short-term ¹³C dynamics in different compartments of the rubber tree : total organic matter of leaves (bulk leaf), leaf polar fraction including soluble sugars, amino, and organic acids (leaf PF), bark extracts, serum, and trunk PF after 13C miles labelling in Line 2016 and October 2016

) ; ;					
Compartment	Labelling period	Mobile ¹³ C pool	Stable ¹³ C pool	MRT (95% CI)	Accuracy of	f the model
		C1 (95% CI)	C ₂ (95% CI)	I	RMSE	\mathbb{R}^2
		(mg $^{13}\mathrm{C}~\mathrm{g}^{-1}$ DM or C)	$(mg^{13}C g^{-1} DM)$	1		
Bulk leaf	June	0.198 (0.179–0.218)	0.051 (0.032–0.066)	19.8 h (13.9–27.0 h)	0.018	0.95
	October	0.119 (0.103–0.139)	0.038 (0.016–0.052)	27.9 h (17.9–43.9 h)	0.014	0.92
Leaf PF	June	0.141 (0.123–0.160)	0.017 (0.001–0.032)	20.6 h (13.1–30.9 h)	0.016	0.93
	October	$0.075\ (0.058-0.096)$	0.015 (-0.005 to 0.028)	22.2 h (9.3–46.1 h)	0.015	0.80
Bark extract	June	$0.409\ (0.268-0.642)$	NA	38.8 h (24.7–65.2 h)	0.031	0.85
	October	0.182(0.147 - 0.226)	NA	45.3 h (35.3–59.5 h)	0.009	0.94
Serum	June	2.198 (1.987–2.402)	0.065 (0.03–0.10)	9.7 d (8.0–11.9 d)	0.21	0.85
	October	1.478 (1.329–1.634)	0.063 (0.02–0.11)	16.6 d (13.4–20.8 d)	0.20	0.82
Trunk PF	June/October	0.193(0.161-0.234)	NA	21.9 d (14.0-31.8 d)	0.021	06.0
Note C_1 , exce	sss ¹³ C recovered in	the mobile pool at D0;	MRT of ^{13}C ; C_2 , asympt	otic remaining amoun	nt of ¹³ C rec	overed in the
compartment a	offier the pulse-chase	period (stable pool). C1	, MRT, and C_2 (with 95%)	CI) were estimated sep	parately for e	sach labelling
period (except	trunk PF) by fitting	experimental data (exce	ss ¹³ C ' x^{E} (¹³ C)' over time,	Figure 22) to a two-pc	ool (mobile a	and stable ¹³ C

pools) exponential decay model (Equation 7). When C_2 was not significantly different from 0, data were adjusted to a one-pool decay model and C_2 is equal to 0. The accuracy of the adjustments was tested with root mean square error (RMSE) and R^2 . NA, not applicable

in this context.

64

Table 5 Kinet (Jun)	ic parameters of she and October, 2016	ort-term ¹³ C dynam (Oct).	ics in latex and rub	ober in the rubber tree	: after ¹³ C pulse lab	elling in June, 2016	
Compartment	Labelling period	Kinetic parameter	S		MRT (95% CI)	Accuracy of the model	i
		A (95% CI)	B (95% CI)	C (95% CI)		RMSE R ²	1
		(mg ¹³ C g ⁻¹ C)	(day)	$(mg^{13}C g^{-1} C day^{-1})$			
Bulk latex	June	1.17 (1.06–1.30)	5.66 (4.72–6.81)	0.49 (0.36–0.69)	38.9 (32.9–45.9)	0.11 0.86	1
	October	4.73 (4.28–5.23)	4.18 (3.65–4.80)	0.86 (0.66–1.15)	17.3 (14.6–20.4)	0.35 0.89	
Rubber	June	1.17 (1.05–1.32)	6.58 (5.51–7.81)	0.49 (0.36–0.68)	37.3 (30.9–45.0)	0.13 0.83	i i
	October	5.37 (4.76–6.06)	4.09 (3.54–4.75)	0.96 (0.71–1.34)	15.9 (13.0–19.3)	0.45 0.88	
Note A, theo1	etical excess ¹³ C i	at the peak; <i>B</i> , the	e date when the pe	eak was reached; C	, constant rate of 1	³ C accumulation in the	
compartment; 1	MRT, mean residenc	ce time of 13 C. A, B	, C, and MRT (with	n their 95% CI) were	estimated for each]	labelling period by fitting	50
experimental c	lata (excess ¹³ C ' $x^{\rm F}$	^E (¹³ C)' over time, s	see Figure 23A and	d Figure 23B with a	n equation that inc	luded a logistic rise and	
exponential dec	cay model (Equation	n 8).The accuracy c	of the adjustments v	was tested with root n	nean square error (H	MSE) and R^2 .	

65

778994390 KU iThesis 6017100068 thesis / recv: 14072566 00:57:08 / seq: 45



May-16 Jun-16 Jul-16 Sep-16 Oct-16 Dec-16 Jan-17

Figure 24 Mean concentrations of soluble sugars (circles) and carbohydrate reserves (squares) in the trunk wood of rubber trees (*Hevea brasiliensis* Muell.Arg.), expressed in mg glucose equivalent g^{-1} dry mass (mg_G g^{-1} DM), after pulse labelling in June (open symbols) and in October (filled symbols). Data represent means ±SE (*n*=3 trees).

However, labelling was performed in June and October, early and late in the rainy season, during which climatic conditions did not change much (Figure 4), but during which the strengths of the different sinks are expected to change, thus modifying the allocation pattern. A lower rate of latex production was found in June (three grams per tree and per tapping event) compared to October (12 g) (Figure 5). This was expected because when a tree is tapped for the first time, the initial yield is low. Successive tapping at regular intervals increases the yield until a plateau is reached after some months (Webster and Baulkwill 1989). For practical reasons (the size of the chamber), this experiment was conducted on trees that were younger than the usual age when tapping starts (4 years old instead of 6 years old). For commercial tapping, rubber trees are generally opened when their girth reached around 45 cm measured 1.7 m above the ground. The girth of our trees was only 19.5–23.5 cm at this height. However, the yield obtained was 0.1 and 0.5 g tree⁻¹ tapping⁻¹ cm⁻¹ of the cut in June and October, respectively, which was significant compared to standard yields of about 1 g tree⁻¹ tapping⁻¹ cm⁻¹ of cut for trees with a girth of 50 cm (Lacote et al. 2010).



Figure 25 Time courses of excess ¹³C ($x^{E}(^{13}C)$), expressed in mg ¹³C g⁻¹ C, after ¹³CO₂ pulse labelling of rubber trees (*Hevea brasiliensis* Muell.Arg.) in June (open symbols) and in October (filled symbols) in (A) total organic matter of the trunk (bulk trunk), (B) trunk polar fraction (PF), (C) trunk structural (ST), and (D) trunk carbohydrate reserves (CR). Data represent means ±SE (n=3 trees). Asterisks indicated a significant effect of the labelling period (LP), time and the LP–time interaction on excess ¹³C in bulk trunk, trunk PF, ST, and CR (ns, P>0.05; *P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001).



Figure 26 Schematic representation of the allocation of the recently assimilated C (traced under the form of ¹³C) in the trunk among soluble compounds (soluble ¹³C), growth (structural ¹³C), storage (carbohydrate reserve ¹³C), and latex production (latex ¹³C) in rubber trees (*Hevea brasiliensis* Muell.Arg.), in June (A) and in October (B).

Note: See the detail of Figure 26, Arrows represent C fluxes between compartments. The size of boxes represents the amount of ¹³C invested in growth, storage, or latex production. The shading of the square in each box represents the intensity of the labelling reached at the peak (from black: highly labelled to white: unlabeled). The mean residence time of ¹³C (MRT), if calculated, is shown in italics and expressed either in hours in leaves or in days in trunk compartments. An asterisk following MRT of ¹³C in October indicates a significant difference from MRT in June. Leaf ¹³C is allocated to the trunk soluble compounds and then partitioned among structural growth, latex production, and carbohydrate reserve formation. (A) In June, the recently assimilated C is preferentially invested in carbohydrate reserves formation (+), resulting in higher excess ¹³C in trunk carbohydrate reserves in June than in October. A part of the ¹³C is also rapidly recovered in serum but not in rubber, suggesting that rubber C comes mainly from the carbohydrate reserve pool (+) in which new C has been mixed with old

C. (B) In October, latex production and concentrations of carbohydrate reserves are higher than in June (larger boxes). The recently assimilated C is preferentially invested in the latex in which it participates in rubber formation. The higher yield increases the sink strength of the laticifers in which rubber production occurs.

Leaf ¹³C was allocated to the trunk soluble compounds and then partitioned among structural growth, latex production and carbohydrate reserve formation. The main findings of this study was summarized in a schematic representation of the allocation of the recently assimilated C (traced under the form of ¹³C) in the trunk among soluble compounds (soluble ¹³C), growth (structural ¹³C), storage (carbohydrate reserves ¹³C) and latex production in June and in October (Figure 26). Because excess ¹³C in leaves, phloem (Figure 22) and serum (Figure 23C) was higher in trees labelled in June than in October, we expected that excess ¹³C in rubber (Figure 23B) would be higher in June than in October. However, the initial excess ¹³C and the maximum rate recovered in rubber were higher in trees labelled in October than in June (Figure 23B), suggesting a higher direct contribution of recent photosynthates to rubber (+) in October (Figure 16B).

This hypothesis is supported by the shorter time needed to reach the peak in excess ¹³C in rubber and the faster disappearance of excess ¹³C in rubber when labelling was performed in October than in June (Figure 23B, Table 5). In October, latex production (Figure 5) and carbohydrate reserve concentrations (Figure 24) are higher than in June (shown as larger boxes than in June in Figure 26). We thus suggest that recent photosynthates are allocated to rubber production in larger quantities after several months of tapping, i.e., once the latex regeneration metabolism is well established and carbohydrate reserves are full. In June, the recently assimilated C was preferentially invested in carbohydrate reserves than in October (Figure 15D). Storage is considered as a high-priority and active process in rubber trees that accumulate C at the expense of competing sinks, i.e., growth and latex production (Chantuma et al. 2009; Silpi et al. 2007). A part of ¹³C is also rapidly recovered in serum but less in rubber (Figure 23B, C), suggesting that rubber C comes mainly from the reserve pool (+;

Figure 26A) in which new C has been mixed with old C. Therefore, the priorities of C allocation in rubber trees are first storage, then latex production. Nevertheless, we cannot exclude that priorities in C allocation could change with time, when trees become taller and store larger amounts of C in their trunk, and the shift observed in C sources for latex regeneration over the tapping season for these young trees might be less significant in older trees.

Higher concentrations of ¹³C in serum and its faster disappearance (shorter MRT) in June than in October (Figure 23C; Table 4) contrasted with the lower concentrations of ¹³C and longer MRT in rubber in June compared with October (Figure 23B; Table 5), suggesting that the ¹³C allocated to serum in June is not invested in molecules that are precursors for rubber synthesis, but in other C-compounds involved in laticifer metabolism or allocated to a pool of C storage. By contrast, the ¹³C recovered in serum in October is hypothesized to be preferentially invested in molecules involved in the rubber synthesis (probably sucrose and, to a lesser extent, cyanogenic monoglucosides), explaining the earlier appearance of the peak in ¹³C and higher excess ¹³C observed in rubber in October than in June (Figure 23B; Table 5). Further investigations using compound-specific stable isotope analysis should clarify ¹³C partitioning and dynamics in the different C-containing molecules in the serum.

¹³CO₂ labelling allowed us to trace the fate and determine the dynamics of the recently assimilated C in the different organs and compartments of rubber trees, including leaves, phloem sap, trunk wood and latex. The results showed that even if the recently assimilated C was rapidly incorporated in latex and rubber, the C used for the regeneration of the latex come also from another source (stored carbohydrates) where old and new C are mixed. A difference in ¹³C allocation and dynamics between June and October (1 month or 5 months after the beginning of tapping) was observed in latex and in wood starch. It was concluded that in October, when latex metabolism is well established and starch reserves in the trunk are complete, a greater proportion of recent photosynthates is used directly for latex regeneration. In June, photosynthates are preferentially invested in the formation of carbohydrate reserves in the trunk, and part

of reserves is remobilized in the inner bark to regenerate latex. The contribution of reserves to latex regeneration underlines the importance of further analysis of the patterns of allocation between growth, latex and reserves to be able to forecast the effects of different tapping systems on the carbon budget of the whole rubber tree.

CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

This study is the first experimental work investigating the carbon allocation in latex and its dynamics in rubber trees (*Hevea brasiliensis* Muell.Arg.) using ${}^{13}CO_2$ pulse-labelling experiment. The methodology was successful and the results were conclusive.

The large crown chamber designed in this study was tested on 4-year-old, 5–6 m tall, rubber trees in the field, both for measuring crown photosynthesis and pulse-labelling trees with ¹³CO₂. The rates of crown photosynthesis were consistent with measurements at leaves and ecosystems levels. Moving the entire chamber, including the scaffolding frame and air conditioning unit, from tree to tree took a few hours, allowing measurement of one tree per day at least, with replications for statistical purposes. The main limitation of this system is that although the temperature was properly controlled, the air relative humidity showed large fluctuations. The performance can be improved in the future by adding an ultrasonic mist generator controlled by a humidity probe. Nevertheless, more than one-half of the ¹³CO₂ injected in the chamber was recovered in the leaves after the end of the labelling, proving that the design of the chamber and the labelling protocols were effective.

Whole crown ¹³CO₂ pulse labelling was performed in June, when latex production was low, and in October, when it was high. ¹³C content was quantified in the foliage, phloem sap, wood, and latex. In both labelling periods, ¹³C was recovered in latex just after labelling, indicating that part of the carbohydrates was directly allocated to latex. However, significant amounts of ¹³C were still recovered in latex after 100 day and the peak was reached significantly later than in phloem sap, demonstrating the contribution of a reserve pool as a source of latex C. The contribution of new photosynthates to latex regeneration was faster and higher when latex metabolism was well established, in October, than in June. However, the experiments were conducted on young rubber trees at the beginning of latex collection. An improved understanding of C dynamics and source–sink relationships in rubber tree over several years after the onset of tapping is crucial to understand the importance of carbohydrate reserves, and to forecast and manage tapping systems in a changing environment, thus ensuring a sustainable latex production. For such purpose, survey of the seasonal and interannual dynamics natural abundance of ¹³C in the different tree compartments can be a complementary approach, easier to implement on larger trees and over a longer period.

Perspectives and recommendations

What to infer from these results regarding rubber production?

A major evolution in natural rubber production is the necessary shift towards low frequency tapping systems. Due to competition with other activities (on farm and out farm), the workforce necessary for tapping the trees is less and less available (Tongkaemkaew et al. 2018) and its cost is increasing. It is then forecasted that Thai rubber farms will switch to lower frequency tapping systems that provide a higher yield per tapping day and therefore a higher daily income for the tappers (Sainoi et al 2017). Implementing such systems in the Thai context necessitate a considerable adaptative work that is not in our scope. However, many of the other main rubber producing countries already use lower tapping frequencies (i.e. d3 to d5) in estates as well as in family farms (Vijayakumar et al. 2009). That is the case for example in Cambodia (Phearun et al. 2019) or in Côte d'Ivoire. Researches are already implemented to develop very-low frequency systems, from d6 (weekly with a day off) to d12 (twice a month with a weekly day off). All these systems use Ethephon, an ethylene precursor, to compensate for the loss of tapping days by increasing the yield per tree per tapping day. Ethephon is well-known to prolong the latex flow (delay the coagulation on the tapping cut) and enhance the regeneration metabolism (Lacote et al. 2010; Obouayeba et al. 2010; Sainoi et al. 2017; Sainoi and Sdoodee 2012). However, there are so far some limits. With stimulation systems tailored (dose, frequency) to clones, it is possible to obtain the same yield per tree, and then per land area, in d3, d4 and even d5 than in intensive systems (i.e. d2, 2d3). However, from d6 the yield starts to decrease and the prototypes are not yet profitable under very low

tapping frequency (Gohet et al. unpublished results). If the duration of the latex flow appears to be one main limiting factor, there are also issues regarding the latex regeneration. The reference tapping frequency is d2 (every other day), because the regeneration time of the exported latex is evaluated to be around 40 h (d'Auzac 1989), then regeneration would be complete if trees are tapped every two days. Higher frequencies (2d3, 3d4) are usually combined with shorter tapping cut (1/3 of spiral instead of 1/2) to compensate. With such tapping frequencies (d2 and below), the regeneration process is rather regular as the trees are almost always regenerating latex, in small quantities. Reducing tapping frequencies disturb such regularity, as the trees export higher amount of latex each time, but less frequently. The pattern becomes an alternance of peaks of export/regeneration and long periods of rest. The lower the tapping frequency, the higher the peaks and the longer the lasting periods. Of course, such patterns lead to uneven metabolic demand. Could the current photosynthesis and the available reserves sustain such peaks of C demand? Conversely, would the latex metabolism not "sleep" during too long inactive periods?

Do these results provide clues about these possible responses?

The first answer is that although these results show that recent photosynthates are involved in latex regeneration, the contribution of reserves was confirmed. This is consistent with the results of Chantuma et al. (2009) and Silpi et al. (2007), who showed that tapped trees accumulated more reserves than untapped ones, while their growth was reduced. Therefore, the dynamics of reserves should be studied in detail to understand the responses of rubber trees to low tapping frequencies. One possibility would be to use the parameters of the function used to describe the kinetics of ¹³C in latex, particularly the mean residence time (MRT).

What does C MRT means in latex and rubber?

In transport compartments such as phloem, MRT indicates the speed of transfer from the sources (canopy) to the sinks (growing organs, reserves, metabolism, respiration). In structural compartments, MRT indicates the turn-over of carbon in the structures of the plant. How fast, the C that composes the structures is renewed or discarded. In storage compartments, the MRT indicates the balance between the supply of C to the reserve compounds (for rubber trees, mostly starch in wood parenchyma) and its use to sustain metabolic demand. But what about latex and rubber? When, and only when, the laticifer vessels are severed by tapping, the latex, i.e. the cytoplasm of the latex cells, flows out. The exported latex is partly replaced by latex coming from the rest of the anastomosed laticifer vessels (often mentioned as the displacement area, (d'Auzac, 1989). Therefore, a part of the ¹³C kinetics relate to the direct flow of matter within the laticifer vessels. This component directly depends on the amount and frequency of the export, then on the tapping system. However, as the nucleus and the mitochondria of the latex cells remain in place, the latex content, made mainly of rubber particles and then of C, is regenerated in situ in what is called, without precise location, the regeneration area. This component of the kinetics should be similar to that of the sink organs, particularly the reserve compartments (starch), as the used compounds are to be regenerated in situ from imported sucrose. One difference is that in the reserves, starch must be hydrolyzed into sucrose to be mobilized, whereas latex is directly exported. It would not be easy to disentangle this complex pattern. However, at the tree scale the overall MRT will depend on the amount of exported latex and the frequency of exportation, then on the tapping system. Further research is necessary to assess if the ups and downs induced by low frequency tapping would result in higher or lower MRT as compared to smoother traditional systems. Possible variations in the other parameters of the kinetics (A, the excess ^{13}C at the peak; B, the date when the peak is reached) could also provide relevant information on how C resources are mobilized. It would be of particular interest to compare the kinetics under different tapping systems, particularly different tapping frequencies. Comparing clones known for their more or less active latex metabolism would also be relevant.

Finally, the experimental design, pulse-labelling approach and sampling strategy are also suitable for further studies on other tree species of interest in horticulture or silviculture, especially for addressing whole tree carbon balance and carbon allocation to specific sink organs or functions, such as, in addition to latex regeneration, fruit maturation and storage of sugars. In addition, crown photosynthesis datasets provide valuable information for testing and validating functional 3-D models of trees.

LITERATURE CITED

- Abulude, F. O. 2007. "Phytochemical Screnning and Mineral Contents of Leaves of Some Nigerian Woody Plants." *Research Journal of Phytochemistry* 1(1):33–39.
- Alam, B., D. B. Nair, and J. Jacob. 2005. "Low Temperature Stress Modifies the Photochemical Efficiency of a Tropical Tree Species *Hevea Brasiliensis*: Effects of Varying Concentration of CO₂ and Photon Flux Density." *Photosynthetica* 43(2):247–52. doi: 10.1007/s11099-005-0040-z.
- Annamalainathan, K., R. Krishnakumar, and James Jacob. 2001. "Tapping-Induced Changes in Respiratory Metabolism, ATP Production and Reactive Oxygen Species Scavenging in *Hevea*." J. Rubber Res. Inst. Malay. 4(4):245–54.
- Archer, B. L., B. G. Audley, G. P. Mc Sweeney, and Tan Chee Hong. 1969. "Studies on Composition of Latex Serum and Bottom Fraction Particles." *Journal of Rubber Research Institute of Malaya* 21(4):560–69.
- d'Auzac, J. 1989. *Physiology of Rubber Tree Latex the Laticiferous Cell and Latex- A Model of Cctoplasm*. 1st Edition. Boca Raton: CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 470 p.
- d'Auzac, Jean, J. Jacob, Julie Prévot, Anne K. Clement, Richard Gallois, H. Crestin, Régis Lacote, Valérie Pujade-Renaud, and Eric Gohet. 1997. "The Regulation of Cis-Polyisoprene Production (Natural Rubber) from *Hevea Brasiliensis*." pp. 273–332 in *Pandalai SG (Ed.) Recent research developments in plant physiology*. Vol. 1. India: Research Singpost, PSG Trivandum.
- Baker, Brad, Jian-Hui Bai, Curtis Johnson, Zhong-Tao Cai, Qing-Jun Li, Yong-Feng Wang, Alex Guenther, Jim Greenberg, Lee Klinger, Chris Geron, and Rei Rasmussen. 2005. "Wet and Dry Season Ecosystem Level Fluxes of Isoprene and Monoterpenes from a Southeast Asian Secondary Forest and Rubber Tree Plantation." *Atmospheric Environment* 39(2):381–90. doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv. 2004.07.033.

- Barthel, Matthias, Albin Hammerle, Patrick Sturm, Thomas Baur, Lydia Gentsch, and Alexander Knohl. 2011. "The Diel Imprint of Leaf Metabolism on the Δ^{13} C Signal of Soil Respiration under Control and Drought Conditions." *New Phytologist* 192(4):925–38. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8137.2011.03848.x.
- Barton, Craig V. M., Remko A. Duursma, Belinda E. Medlyn, David S. Ellsworth, Derek Eamus, David T. Tissue, Mark A. Adams, Jann Conroy, Kristine Y. Crous, Marion Liberloo, Markus Löw, Sune Linder, and Ross E. McMurtrie. 2012. "Effects of Elevated Atmospheric [CO₂] on Instantaneous Transpiration Efficiency at Leaf and Canopy Scales in *Eucalyptus Saligna*." *Global Change Biology* 18(2):585–95. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2011.02526.x.
- Barton, Craig V. M., David S. Ellsworth, Belinda E. Medlyn, Remko A. Duursma,
 David T. Tissue, Mark A. Adams, Derek Eamus, Jann P. Conroy, Ross E.
 McMurtrie, and Jan Parsby. 2010. "Whole-Tree Chambers for Elevated
 Atmospheric CO₂ Experimentation and Tree Scale Flux Measurements in SouthEastern Australia: The Hawkesbury Forest Experiment." *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology* 150(7–8):941–51. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet. 2010.03.001.
- Bates, Douglas, Martin Mächler, Ben Bolker, and Steve Walker. 2014. "Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models Using Lme4." *Journal of Statistical Software* 67:1–48.
- Blessing, Carola H., Roland A. Werner, Rolf Siegwolf, and Nina Buchmann. 2015.
 "Allocation Dynamics of Recently Fixed Carbon in Beech Saplings in Response to Increased Temperatures and Drought." *Tree Physiology* 35(6):585–98. doi: 10.1093/treephys/tpv024.
- Bottier, Céline. 2020. "Biochemical Composition of *Hevea Brasiliensis* Latex: A Focus on the Protein, Lipid, Carbohydrate and Mineral Contents." pp. 201–37 in *Advances in Botanical Research*. Vol. 93. Elsevier.
- Bravdo, B. 1971. "Carbon Dioxide Compensation Points of Leaves and Stems and Their Relation to Net Photosynthesis." *Plant Physiology* 48(5):607–12. doi:

10.1104/pp.48.5.607.

- Carbone, Mariah S., Claudia I. Czimczik, Kelsey E. Mc Duffee, and Susan E.
 Trumbore. 2007. "Allocation and Residence Time of Photosynthetic Products in a Boreal Forest Using a Low-Level ¹⁴C Pulse-Chase Labeling Technique." *Global Change Biology* 13(2):466–77. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2006.01300.x.
- Cerling, Thure E., Linda K. Ayliffe, M. Denise Dearing, James R. Ehleringer, Benjamin H. Passey, David W. Podlesak, Ann-Marie Torregrossa, and Adam G. West. 2007. "Determining Biological Tissue Turnover Using Stable Isotopes: The Reaction Progress Variable." *Oecologia* 151(2):175–89. doi: 10.1007/s00442-006-0571-4.
- Chambon, Bénédicte, Suttipong Angthong, Chaiya Kongmanee, Buncha Somboonsuke, Sophie Mazon, Akaraya Puengcharoen, Charlotte Martin, and Régis Lacote.
 2013. "A Comparative Analysis of Smallholders Tapping Practices in Four Rubber Producing Regions of Thailand." *Advanced Materials Research* 844:34– 37. doi: 10.4028/www.scientific.net/AMR.844.34.
- Chantuma, P., A. Lacointe, P. Kasemsap, S. Thanisawanyangkura, E. Gohet, A.
 Clement, A. Guilliot, T. Ameglio, and P. Thaler. 2009. "Carbohydrate Storage in Wood and Bark of Rubber Trees Submitted to Different Level of C Demand Induced by Latex Tapping." *Tree Physiology* 29(8):1021–31.
- Chantuma, P., R. Lacote, A. Leconte, and E. Gohet. 2011. "An Innovative Tapping System, the Double Cut Alternative, to Improve the Yield of *Hevea Brasiliensis* in Thai Rubber Plantations." *Field Crops Research* 121(3):416–22. doi: 10.1016/j.fcr.2011.01.013.
- Chantuma, P., R. Lacote, S. Sonnarth, and E. Gohet. 2017. "Effects of Different Tapping Rest Periods during Wintering and Summer Months on Dry Rubber Yield of *Hevea Brasiliensis* in Thailand." *Journal of Rubber Research* 20(4):261–72. doi: 10.1007/BF03449156.

- Chen, J. W., Q. Zhang, X. S. Li, and K. F. Cao. 2010. "Gas Exchange and Hydraulics in Seedlings of *Hevea Brasiliensis* during Water Stress and Recovery." *Tree Physiology* 30(7):876–85. doi: 10.1093/treephys/tpq043.
- Combe, J.-Cl., and C. J. du PLESSIX. 1974. "Étude du développement morphologique de la couronne de *Hévéa brasiliensis* (Müll. Arg. Euphorbiacées-Crotonoïdées)." *Annales des Sciences Forestières* 31(4):207–28. doi: 10.1051/forest/19740402.
- Coplen, Tyler B., John Karl Böhlke, Bièvre P. De, T. Ding, N. E. Holden, J. A. Hopple, H. R. Krouse, A. Lamberty, H. S. Peiser, K. Revesz, S. E. Rieder, K. J. R. Rosman, E. Roth, P. D. P. Taylor, R. D. Vocke, and Y. K. Xiao. 2002. "Isotope-Abundance Variations of Selected Elements (IUPAC Technical Report)." *Pure* and Applied Chemistry 74(10):1987–2017. doi: 10.1351/pac200274101987.
- Corelli-Grappadelli, Luca, and E. Magnanini. 1993. "A Whole-Tree System for Gas-Exchange Studies." *HortScience* 28(1):41–45. doi: 10.21273/HORTSCI.28.1.41.
- Dannoura, Masako, Daniel Epron, Dorine Desalme, Catherine Massonnet, Shoko Tsuji, Caroline Plain, Pierrick Priault, and Dominique Gérant. 2019. "The Impact of Prolonged Drought on Phloem Anatomy and Phloem Transport in Young Beech Trees" edited by T. Holtta. *Tree Physiology* 39(2):201–10. doi: 10.1093/treephys/tpy070.
- Dannoura, Masako, Pascale Maillard, Chantal Fresneau, Caroline Plain, Daniel Berveiller, Dominique Gerant, Christophe Chipeaux, Alexandre Bosc, Jérôme Ngao, Claire Damesin, Denis Loustau, and Daniel Epron. 2011. "*In Situ* Assessment of the Velocity of Carbon Transfer by Tracing ¹³C in Trunk CO₂ Efflux after Pulse Labelling: Variations among Tree Species and Seasons." *New Phytologist* 190(1):181–92. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8137.2010.03599.x.
- Dawson, Todd E., Stefania Mambelli, Agneta H. Plamboeck, Pamela H. Templer, and Kevin P. Tu. 2002. "Stable Isotopes in Plant Ecology." *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics* 33(1):507–59. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.

- Desalme, Dorine, Pierrick Priault, Dominique Gérant, Masako Dannoura, Pascale
 Maillard, Caroline Plain, and Daniel Epron. 2017. "Seasonal Variations Drive
 Short-Term Dynamics and Partitioning of Recently Assimilated Carbon in the
 Foliage of Adult Beech and Pine." New Phytologist 213(1):140–53. doi:
 10.1111/nph.14124.
- Doungmusik, Apirak, and Sayan Sdoodee. 2012. "Enhancing the Latex Productivity of *Hevea Brasiliensis* Clone RRIM 600 Using Ethylene Stimulation." 8:10.
- Dreyer, E., and F. A. Daudet. 1984. "Photosynthesis and Transpiration of Whole Walnut Trees. Diurnal Variations and Effects of a Severe Drought." Pp. 415–18 in Advances in Photosynthesis Research: Proceedings of the VIth International Congress on Photosynthesis, Brussels, Belgium, August 1–6, 1983. Volume 4, edited by C. Sybesma. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands.
- Duangngam, Ornuma, Dorine Desalme, Philippe Thaler, Poonpipope Kasemsap, Jate Sathornkich, Duangrat Satakhun, Chompunut Chayawat, Nicolas Angeli, Pisamai Chantuma, and Daniel Epron. 2020. "*In Situ* ¹³CO₂ Labelling of Rubber Trees Reveals a Seasonal Shift in the Contribution of the Carbon Sources Involved in Latex Regeneration" edited by J. Lunn. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 71(6):2028–39. doi: 10.1093/jxb/erz551.
- Endrulat, T., M. Saurer, N. Buchmann, and I. Brunner. 2010. "Incorporation and Remobilization of ¹³C within the Fine-Root Systems of Individual Abies Alba Trees in a Temperate Coniferous Stand." *Tree Physiology* 30(12):1515–27. doi: 10.1093/treephys/tpq090.
- Epron, D., M. Bahn, D. Derrien, F. A. Lattanzi, J. Pumpanen, A. Gessler, P. Hogberg, P. Maillard, M. Dannoura, D. Gerant, and N. Buchmann. 2012. "Pulse-Labelling Trees to Study Carbon Allocation Dynamics: A Review of Methods, Current Knowledge and Future Prospects." *Tree Physiology* 32(6):776–98. doi:

- Epron, D., J. P. Laclau, J. C. R. Almeida, J. L. M. Goncalves, S. Ponton, C. R. Sette, J. S. Delgado-Rojas, J. P. Bouillet, and Y. Nouvellon. 2012. "Do Changes in Carbon Allocation Account for the Growth Response to Potassium and Sodium Applications in Tropical Eucalyptus Plantations?" *Tree Physiology* 32(6):667–79. doi: 10.1093/treephys/tpr107.
- Epron, D., J. Ngao, M. Dannoura, M. R. Bakker, B. Zeller, S. Bazot, A. Bosc, C. Plain, J. C. Lata, P. Priault, L. Barthes, and D. Loustau. 2011. "Seasonal Variations of Belowground Carbon Transfer Assessed by in Situ ¹³CO₂ Pulse Labelling of Trees." *Biogeosciences* 8(5):1153–68. doi: 10.5194/bg-8-1153-2011.
- Epron, Daniel, Osvaldo Machado Rodrigues Cabral, Jean-Paul Laclau, Masako
 Dannoura, Ana Paula Packer, Caroline Plain, Patricia Battie-Laclau, Marcelo
 Zacharias Moreira, Paulo Cesar Ocheuze Trivelin, Jean-Pierre Bouillet,
 Dominique Gérant, and Yann Nouvellon. 2016. "In Situ ¹³CO₂ Pulse Labelling
 of Field-Grown Eucalypt Trees Revealed the Effects of Potassium Nutrition and
 Throughfall Exclusion on Phloem Transport of Photosynthetic Carbon" edited
 by P. Millard. *Tree Physiology* 36(1):6–21. doi: 10.1093/treephys/tpv090.
- Farquhar, Gd, and Ra Richards. 1984. "Isotopic Composition of Plant Carbon Correlates with Water-Use Efficiency of Wheat Genotypes." *Functional Plant Biology* 11(6):539. doi: 10.1071/PP9840539.
- Farrar, S. C., and J. F. Farrar. 1986. "Compartmentation and Fluxes of Sucrose in Intact Leaf Blades of Barley." *New Phytologist* 103(4):645–57. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8137.1986.tb00839.x.
- Furze, Morgan E., John E. Drake, Julia Wiesenbauer, Andreas Richter, and Elise Pendall. 2019. "Carbon Isotopic Tracing of Sugars throughout Whole-trees Exposed to Climate Warming." *Plant, Cell & Environment* 42(12):3253–63. doi: 10.1111/pce.13625.

- Génard, Michel, Nadia Bertin, Hélène Gautier, Françoise Lescourret, and Bénédicte
 Quilot. 2010. "Virtual Profiling: A New Way to Analyse Phenotypes: Virtual
 Profiling to Analyse Phenotypes." *The Plant Journal* 62(2):344–55. doi:
 10.1111/j.1365-313X.2010.04152.x.
- Gessler, A., H. Rennenberg, and C. Keitel. 2004. "Stable Isotope Composition of Organic Compounds Transported in the Phloem of European Beech - Evaluation of Different Methods of Phloem Sap Collection and Assessment of Gradients in Carbon Isotope Composition during Leaf-to-stem Transport." *Plant Biology* 6(6):721–29. doi: 10.1055/s-2004-830350.
- Gohet, E., J. C. Prévôt, J. M. Eschbach, A. Clément, and J. L. Jacob. 1996. "Clone, Croissance et Stimulation, Facteurs de La Production de Latex." *Plantations, Recherche, Développement* 3(1):30–38.
- Gohet, Eric, Eric Cavaloc, Saulo Cardoso, Ivo Cairo, Dominique Garcia, Franck
 Rivano, Régis Lacote, and Gregory Lesturgez. 2015. A First Physiological
 Assessment of Latex Clonal Metabolic Typology and Rubber Yield Potential of
 "CMS" Rubber Tree Clones.
- Gohet, Eric, Bénédicte Chambon, and Régis Lacote. 2016. "Optimizing Smallholders' Yield and Productivity through Adoption of Appropriate Latex Harvesting Technology." P. 15 in MRB IRRDB Workshop on Agronomy and Transfer of Technology. Sungai Petani (Malaisie).
- Gooding, E. G. B. 1952. "Studies in the Physiology of Latex III. Effects of Various Factors on the Concentration of Latex of *Hevea Brasiliensis*." *New Phytologist* 51(2):139–53.
- Hallé, F., and R. Martin. 1968. "Etude de La Croissance Rythmique Chez l'Hévéa (*Hevea Brasiliensis* Müll.-Arg. Euphorbiacées - Crotonoïdées)." *Adansonia* 8:475–503.

Hartmann, Henrik. 2015. "Carbon Starvation during Drought-Induced Tree Mortality -

Are We Chasing a Myth?" *Journal of Plant Hydraulics* 2:e005. doi: 10.20870/jph.2015.e005.

- Hartmann, Henrik, Michael Bahn, Mariah Carbone, and Andrew D. Richardson. 2020.
 "Plant Carbon Allocation in a Changing World Challenges and Progress: Introduction to a Virtual Issue on Carbon Allocation: Introduction to a Virtual Issue on Carbon Allocation." *New Phytologist* 227(4):981–88. doi: 10.1111/nph.16757.
- Hartmann, Henrik, and Susan Trumbore. 2016. "Understanding the Roles of Nonstructural Carbohydrates in Forest Trees – from What We Can Measure to What We want to Know." *New Phytologist* 211(2):386–403. doi: 10.1111/nph.13955.
- Hébant, Charles, and Elisabeth De Fay. 1980. "Functional Organization of the Bark of *Hevea Brasiliensis* (Rubber Tree): A Structural and Histoenzymological Study." *Zeitschrift Für Pflanzenphysiologie* 97(5):391–98. doi: 10.1016/S0044-328X(80)80013-4.
- Hepper, C. M., and B. G. Audley. 1969. "The Biosynthesis of Rubber from β-Hydroxyβ-Methylglutaryl- Coenzyme A in *Hevea Brasiliensis* Latex." *Biochemical Journal* 114(2):379–86.
- Herrera-Ramírez, Carlos A. Sierra, Jan Muhr, Susan Trumbore, Divino Silvério, Paulo M. Brando, and Henrik Hartmann. 2021. "Starch and Lipid Storage Strategies in Tropical Trees Relate to Growth and Mortality." *New Phytologist* 230(1):139–54.
- Hesse, Benjamin D., Michael Goisser, Henrik Hartmann, and Thorsten E. E. Grams.
 2019. "Repeated Summer Drought Delays Sugar Export from the Leaf and Impairs Phloem Transport in Mature Beech." *Tree Physiology* 39(2):192–200. doi: 10.1093/treephys/tpy122.

Högberg, P., M. N. Högberg, S. G. Göttlicher, N. R. Betson, S. G. Keel, D. B. Metcalfe,

C. Campbell, A. Schindlbacher, V. Hurry, T. Lundmark, S. Linder, and T. Näsholm. 2008. "High Temporal Resolution Tracing of Photosynthate Carbon from the Tree Canopy to Forest Soil Microorganisms." *New Phytologist* 177(1):220–28. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8137.2007.02238.x.

- IRSG. 2021. "Quarterly Statistics. Singapore: International Rubber Study Group." http://www.Rubberstudy.Com/Statistics.Aspx.
- IRSG. 2023. "Quarterly Statistics. Singapore: International Rubber Study Group." http://www.Rubberstudy.Com/Statistics.Aspx.
- Kagawa, Akira, Atsuko Sugimoto, and Trofim C. Maximov. 2006. "¹³CO₂ Pulse-Labelling of Photoassimilates Reveals Carbon Allocation within and between Tree Rings." *Plant, Cell and Environment* 29(8):1571–84. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3040.2006.01533.x.
- Kanpanon, N., P. Kasemsap, P. Thaler, B. Kositsup, R. Rattanawong, and D. Epron.
 2017. "Large Variation in Carbon Isotope Composition of Bulk Leaf Material of Rubber Trees from a Germplasm Collection: An Opportunity for Improving Water Use Efficiency in Breeding Programs." *Journal of Rubber Research* 20(1):58–70. doi: 10.1007/BF03449142.
- Kanpanon, Nicha. 2017. "Is Carbon Isotope Composition a Relevant Ecophysiological Indicator of Genetic Variation in Water Use Efficiency of Rubber Trees?"
 Doctor Thesis, Kasetsart University, Bangkok, Thailland.
- Kanpanon, Nicha, Poonpipope Kasemsap, Philippe Thaler, Boonthida Kositsup,
 Frédéric Gay, Régis Lacote, and Daniel Epron. 2015. "Carbon Isotope
 Composition of Latex Does Not Reflect Temporal Variations of Photosynthetic
 Carbon Isotope Discrimination in Rubber Trees (*Hevea Brasiliensis*)" edited by
 L. Cernusak. *Tree Physiology* 35(11):1166–75. doi: 10.1093/treephys/tpv070.
- Karling, John S. 1934. "Dendrograph Studies on Achras Bapota in Relation to the Optimum Conditions for Tapping." *American Journal of Botany* 21(4):161–93.

- Keel, Sonja G., Catherine D. Campbell, Mona N. Högberg, Andreas Richter, Birgit Wild, Xuhui Zhou, Vaughan Hurry, Sune Linder, Torgny Näsholm, and Peter Högberg. 2012. "Allocation of Carbon to Fine Root Compounds and Their Residence Times in a Boreal Forest Depend on Root Size Class and Season." New Phytologist 194(4):972–81. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8137.2012.04120.x.
- Keel, Sonja G., Rolf T. W. Siegwolf, Maya Jäggi, and Christian Körner. 2007. "Rapid Mixing between Old and New C Pools in the Canopy of Mature Forest Trees." *Plant, Cell & Environment* 30(8):963–72. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3040.2007.01688.x.
- Kongsawadworakul, Panida, Unchera Viboonjun, Phayao Romruensukharom, Pisamai Chantuma, Somjintana Ruderman, and Hervé Chrestin. 2009. "The Leaf, Inner Bark and Latex Cyanide Potential of *Hevea Brasiliensis* : Evidence for Involvement of Cyanogenic Glucosides in Rubber Yield." *Phytochemistry* 70(6):730–39. doi: 10.1016/j.phytochem.2009.03.020.
- Kositsup, B., P. Kasemsap, S. Thanisawanyangkura, N. Chairungsee, D. Satakhun, K. Teerawatanasuk, T. Ameglio, and P. Thaler. 2010. "Effect of Leaf Age and Position on Light-Saturated CO₂ Assimilation Rate, Photosynthetic Capacity, and Stomatal Conductance in Rubber Trees." *Photosynthetica* 48(1):67–78. doi: 10.1007/s11099-010-0010-y.
- Kositsup, Boonthida, Pierre Montpied, Poonpipope Kasemsap, Philippe Thaler, Thierry Améglio, and Erwin Dreyer. 2009. "Photosynthetic Capacity and Temperature Responses of Photosynthesis of Rubber Trees (*Hevea Brasiliensis* Müll. Arg.) Acclimate to Changes in Ambient Temperatures." *Trees* 23(2):357–65. doi: 10.1007/s00468-008-0284-x.

Kozlowski T.T. 1992. "Carbohydrate Sources and Sinks in Woody Plants." *The Botanical Review* 58(2):109–84.

- Krepkowski, Julia, Aster Gebrekirstos, Olga Shibistova, and Achim Bräuning. 2013.
 "Stable Carbon Isotope Labeling Reveals Different Carry-over Effects between Functional Types of Tropical Trees in an Ethiopian Mountain Forest." New Phytologist 199(2):431–40. doi: 10.1111/nph.12266.
- Kunjet, Sumit, Philippe Thaler, Frederic Gay, Pisamai Chuntuma, Kumut Sangkhasila, and Poonpipope Kasemsap. 2013. "Effects of Drought and Tapping for Latex Production on Water Relations of *Hevea Brasiliensis* Trees." *Natural Science* 47(4):506–15.
- Lacointe, André, Abdellah Kajji, François-Alain Daudet, Philippe Archer, Jean-Sylvain Frossard, Brigitte Saint-Joanis, and Marc Vandame. 1993. "Mobilization of Carbon Reserves in Young Walnut Trees." *Acta Botanica Gallica* 140(4):435–41. doi: 10.1080/12538078.1993.10515618.
- Lacote, R., O. Gabla, S. Obouayeba, J. M. Eschbach, F. Rivano, K. Dian, and E. Gohet. 2010. "Long-Term Effect of Ethylene Stimulation on the Yield of Rubber Trees Is Linked to Latex Cell Biochemistry." *Field Crops Research* 115(1):94–98. doi: 10.1016/j.fcr.2009.10.007.
- Lacote, R., S. Obouayeba, A. Clément-Demange, K. Dian, M. Gnagne, and E. Gohet.
 2004. "Panel Management in Rubber (*Hevea Brasiliensis*) Tapping and Impact on Yield, Growth, and Latex Diagnosis." *Journal of Rubber Research* 7.
- Li, Mengke, Zifan Zhang, Pengjing Guo, Guofei Ji, Xi Zhang, Qi Qi, Xuefeng Xu,
 Xinzhong Zhang, Wei Li, Zhenhai Han, and Changpeng Qiu. 2022. "WholeCanopy Photosynthetic Characterization of Apple Tree and the Effects Induced
 by Grafting on Rootstocks with Different Vigor." *Horticulturae* 8(9):816. doi:
 10.3390/horticulturae8090816.
- McDowell, Nate, William T. Pockman, Craig D. Allen, David D. Breshears, Neil Cobb, Thomas Kolb, Jennifer Plaut, John Sperry, Adam West, David G. Williams, and Enrico A. Yepez. 2008. "Mechanisms of Plant Survival and Mortality during Drought: Why Do Some Plants Survive While Others Succumb to Drought?"

- Merchant, Andrew, Michael Tausz, Stefan Arndt, and Mark Adams. 2006. "Cyclitols and Carbohydrates in Leaves and Roots of 13 Eucalyptus Species Suggest Contrasting Physiological Responses to Water Deficit." *Plant, Cell & Environment* 29:2017–29. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3040.2006.01577.x.
- Nawamawat, Kanjanee, Jitladda T. Sakdapipanich, Chee C. Ho, Yujie Ma, Jing Song, and Julius G. Vancso. 2011. "Surface Nanostructure of *Hevea Brasiliensis* Natural Rubber Latex Particles." *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects* 390(1):157–66. doi: 10.1016/j.colsurfa.2011.09.021.
- Obouayeba, Samuel, Lacina Fanlégué Coulibaly, Eric Gohet, Thérèse N'drin Yao, and Séverin Ake. 2009. "Effect of Tapping Systems and Height of Tapping Opening on Clone PB 235 Agronomic Parameters and It's Susceptibility to Tapping Panel Dryness in South-East of Côte d'Ivoire." *Journal of Applied Biosciences* 24:1535–42.
- Obouayeba, Samuel, Soumahin Francis Eric, Kouassi Kan Modeste, Lacina Fanlégué, Koffi Mathurin Okoma, Angelo Evariste Badou N'guessan, Kouamé Christophe, and Aké Sévérin. 2012. "Influence of Age and Girth at Opening on Rubber Yield, Biochemical and Tapping Panel Dryness Parameters of *Hevea Brasiliensis* in Determining Tapping Norms."
- Obouayeba, Samuel, Eric Soumahin, and Lacina Coulibaly. 2010. "Low Intensity Tapping Systems Applied to Clone PR 107 of *Hevea Brasiliensis* (Muell. Arg.) in South-Eastern Côte d'Ivoire: Influence of the Nature of the Exploited Bark and the Position of Tapping Panel." *Agriculture and Biology Journal of North America* 1(5):1106–18. doi: 10.5251/abjna.2010.1.5.1106.1118.
- Panklang, Phantip, Alexis Thoumazeau, Rawee Chiarawipa, Sayan Sdoodee, David
 Sebag, Frédéric Gay, Philippe Thaler, and Alain Brauman. 2022. "Rubber,
 Rubber and Rubber: How 75 Years of Successive Rubber Plantation Rotations
 Affect Topsoil Quality?" *Land Degradation & Development* 33(8):1159–69. doi:

- Pérez-Priego, Oscar, Luca Testi, Francisco Orgaz, and Francisco J. Villalobos. 2010. "A Large Closed Canopy Chamber for Measuring CO₂ and Water Vapour Exchange of Whole Trees." *Environmental and Experimental Botany* 68(2):131–38. doi: 10.1016/j.envexpbot.2009.10.009.
- Phearun, Phen, Mak Sopheaveasna, Chhek Chan, Eric Gohet, and Régis Lacote. 2019.
 "Evaluation of Low Frequency Tapping Systems with Stimulation on *Hevea* in Traditional Area of Cambodia." P. 8 in *International Rubber Conference*, *IRRDB*. Nay Pyi Taw (Myanmar).
- Pinizzotto, Pinizzotto, Kadir A., Gitz V., Sainte-Beuve J., Nair L., Gohet E., Penot E., and Meybeck A. 2021. *Natural Rubber and Climate Change: A Policy Paper*. Center for International Forestry Research (CIFOR).
- Plain, C., D. Gerant, P. Maillard, M. Dannoura, Y. Dong, B. Zeller, P. Priault, F. Parent, and D. Epron. 2009. "Tracing of Recently Assimilated Carbon in Respiration at High Temporal Resolution in the Field with a Tuneable Diode Laser Absorption Spectrometer after *In Situ* ¹³CO₂ Pulse Labelling of 20-Year-Old Beech Trees." *Tree Physiology* 29(11):1433–45. doi: 10.1093/treephys/tpp072.
- Rao, P. S., and K. R. Vijayakumar. 1992. "CHAPTER 9 Climatic Requirements." Pp. 200–219 in *Natural Rubber*. Vol. 23, *Developments in Crop Science*, edited by M. R. Sethuraj and N. M. Mathew. Elsevier.
- Richardson, Andrew D., Mariah S. Carbone, Trevor F. Keenan, Claudia I. Czimczik, David Y. Hollinger, Paula Murakami, Paul G. Schaberg, and Xiaomei Xu. 2013.
 "Seasonal Dynamics and Age of Stem wood Nonstructural Carbohydrates in Temperate Forest Trees." *New Phytologist* 197(3):850–61. doi: 10.1111/nph.12042.
- Richter, Andreas, Wolfgang Wanek, Roland A. Werner, Jaleh Ghashghaie, Maya Jäggi, Arthur Gessler, Enrico Brugnoli, Elena Hettmann, Sabine G. Göttlicher, Yann

Salmon, Camille Bathellier, Naomi Kodama, Salvador Nogués, Astrid Soe, Fillip Volders, Karin Sörgel, Andreas Blöchl, Rolf T. W. Siegwolf, Nina Buchmann, and Gerd Gleixner. 2009. "Preparation of Starch and Soluble Sugars of Plant Material for the Analysis of Carbon Isotope Composition: A Comparison of Methods." *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry* 23(16):2476–88. doi: 10.1002/rcm.4088.

- Ridgman, J. 1989. "Rubber. Edited by C. C. Webster and W. J. Baulkwill Ix + 614
 Pages. Harlow: Longman Scientific & Technical. 1989. ISBN 0 470 40405 3." *The Journal of Agricultural Science* 113(3):413–16. doi: 10.1017/S0021859600070167.
- Ruehr, Nadine K., Christine A. Offermann, Arthur Gessler, Jana Barbro Winkler, Juan Pedro Ferrio, Nina Buchmann, and Romain L. Barnard. 2009. "Drought Effects on Allocation of Recent Carbon: From Beech Leaves to Soil CO₂ Efflux." *New Phytologist* 184(4):950–61. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8137.2009.03044.x.
- Sainoi, Thongchai, and Sayan Sdoodee. 2012. "The Impact of Ethylene Gas Application on Young-Tapping Rubber Trees." 8.
- Sainoi, Thongchai, Sayan Sdoodee, Regis Lacote, and Eric Gohet. 2017. "Low Frequency Tapping Systems Applied to Young-Tapped Trees of *Hevea Brasiliensis* (Willd. Ex A. Juss.) Müll. Arg. in Southern Thailand." Agriculture and Natural Resources 51(4):268–72. doi: 10.1016/j.anres.2017.03.001.
- Sakdapipanich, Jitladda Tangpakdee. 2007. "Structural Characterization of Natural Rubber Based on Recent Evidence from Selective Enzymatic Treatments." *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering* 103(4):287–92. doi: 10.1263/jbb.103.287.
- Selmar, Dirk, Reinhard Lieberei, and Böle Biehl. 1988. "Mobilization and Utilization of Cyanogenic Glycosides: The Linustatin Pathway." *Plant Physiology* 86(3):711– 16. doi: 10.1104/pp.86.3.711.

- Senevirathna, A. M. W. K., C. M. Stirling, and V. H. L. Rodrigo. 2003. "Growth, Photosynthetic Performance and Shade Adaptation of Rubber (*Hevea Brasiliensis*) Grown in Natural Shade." *Tree Physiology* 23(10):705–12. doi: 10.1093/treephys/23.10.705.
- Shvaleva, A. L., F. C. E. Silva, E. Breia, J. Jouve, J. F. Hausman, M. H. Almeida, J. P. Maroco, M. L. Rodrigues, J. S. Pereira, and M. M. Chaves. 2006. "Metabolic Responses to Water Deficit in Two *Eucalyptus Globulus* Clones with Contrasting Drought Sensitivity." *Tree Physiology* 26(2):239–48. doi: 10.1093/treephys/26.2.239.
- Silpi, U., A. Lacointe, P. Kasempsap, S. Thanysawanyangkura, P. Chantuma, E. Gohet, N. Musigamart, A. Clement, T. Ameglio, and P. Thaler. 2007. "Carbohydrate Reserves as a Competing Sink: Evidence from Tapping Rubber Trees." *Tree Physiology* 27(6):881–89. doi: 10.1093/treephys/27.6.881.
- Silpi, U., P. Thaler, P. Kasemsap, A. Lacointe, A. Chantuma, B. Adam, E. Gohet, S. Thaniswanyankura, and T. Ameglio. 2006. "Effect of Tapping Activity on the Dynamics of Radial Growth of *Hevea Brasiliensis* Trees." *Tree Physiology* 26(12):1579–87. doi: 10.1093/treephys/26.12.1579.
- Singh, Adya, Seung Gon Wi, Gap Chung, Yoon Kim, and Hunseung Kang. 2003. "The Micromorphology and Protein Characterization of Rubber Particles in Ficus Carica, Ficus Benghalensis and *Hevea Brasiliensis*." *Journal of Experimental Botany* 54:985–92. doi: 10.1093/jxb/erg107.
- Somboonsuke, B., P. Wettayaprasit, and Mahāwitthayālai Songkhlānakharin
 Department of Agricultural Development. 2013. Agricultural System of Natural
 Para Rubber Smallholding Sector in Thailand: System, Technology,
 Organization, Economy, and Policy Implication. Department of Agricultural
 Development, Prince of Songkla Uinversity.
- Sopharat, Jessada, Frederic Gay, Philippe Thaler, Sayan Sdoodee, Supat Isarangkool Na Ayutthaya, Charlchai Tanavud, Claude Hammecker, and Frederic C. Do. 2015.

"A Simple Framework to Analyze Water Constraints on Seasonal Transpiration in Rubber Tree (*Hevea Brasiliensis*) Plantations." *Frontiers in Plant Science* 5. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2014.00753.

- Soumahin, Eric Francis, and Samuel Obouayeba. 2009. "Low Tapping Frequency with Hormonal Stimulation on *Hevea Brasiliensis* Clone PB 217 Reduces Tapping Manpower Requirement." *Journal of Animal & Plant Sciences* 2(3):109–17.
- Srisondee, D. 2019. "Canopy Leaf Area and Carbon Gain Estimation of Five Rubber Clones (*Hevea Brasiliensis* Muell. Arg). Master Thesis, Kasetsart University, Bangkok, Thailland." Master Thesis, Kasetsart University, Bangkok, Thailland.
- Streit, Kathrin, Katja T. Rinne, Frank Hagedorn, Melissa A. Dawes, Matthias Saurer,
 Günter Hoch, Roland A. Werner, Nina Buchmann, and Rolf T. W. Siegwolf.
 2013. "Tracing Fresh Assimilates through Larix Decidua Exposed to Elevated
 CO2 and Soil Warming at the Alpine Treeline Using Compound-Specific Stable
 Isotope Analysis." *New Phytologist* 197(3):838–49. doi: 10.1111/nph.12074.
- Studer, M. S., R. T. W. Siegwolf, and S. Abiven. 2014. "Carbon Transfer, Partitioning and Residence Time in the Plant-Soil System: A Comparison of Two ¹³CO₂ Labelling Techniques." *Biogeosciences* 11(6):1637–48. doi: 10.5194/bg-11-1637-2014.
- Tsuji, Chiaki, Masako Dannoura, Dorine Desalme, Nicolas Angeli, Satoru Takanashi, Yuji Kominami, and Daniel Epron. 2022. "Drought Affects the Fate of Non-Structural Carbohydrates in Hinoki Cypress" edited by F. Meinzer. *Tree Physiology* 42(4):784–96. doi: 10.1093/treephys/tpab135.
- Tupý, J. 1985. "Some Aspects of Sucrose Transport and Utilization in Latex Producing Bark of *Hevea Brasiliensis* Muel. Arg." *Biologia Plantarum* 27(1):51–64. doi: 10.1007/BF02894634.
- Vijayakumar, K., É. Gohet, K. Thomas, Wei Xiao-di, Sumarmadji, L. Rodrigo, Do Kim Thanh, Pichit Sopchoke, K. Karunaichamy, and Said Mohd Akbar. 2009.

"Special Communication: Revised International Notation for Latex Harvest Technology." *Journal of Rubber Research*.

- Vrignon-Brenas, Sylvain, Frédéric Gay, Sophie Ricard, Didier Snoeck, Thibaut Perron, Louis Mareschal, Jean-Paul Laclau, Éric Gohet, and Philippe Malagoli. 2019.
 "Nutrient Management of Immature Rubber Plantations. A Review." *Agronomy for Sustainable Development* 39(1):11. doi: 10.1007/s13593-019-0554-6.
- Wang, Xueqian, Peter D. Blanken, Poonpipope Kasemsap, Pakorn Petchprayoon,
 Philippe Thaler, Yann Nouvellon, Frédéric Gay, Amnat Chidthaisong, Montri
 Sanwangsri, Chompunut Chayawat, Pisamai Chantuma, Jate Sathornkich,
 Rungnapa Kaewthongrach, Duangrat Satakhun, and Jessada Phattaralerphong.
 2022. "Carbon and Water Cycling in Two Rubber Plantations and a Natural
 Forest in Mainland Southeast Asia." *Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences* 127(5). doi: 10.1029/2022JG006840.
- Wang, Yong-Feng, Susan M. Owen, Qing-Jun Li, and Josep Peñuelas. 2007.
 "Monoterpene Emissions from Rubber Trees (*Hevea Brasiliensis*) in a Changing Landscape and Climate: Chemical Speciation and Environmental Control." *Global Change Biology* 13(11):2270–82. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2007.01441.x.
- Warren, J. M., C. M. Iversen, C. T. Garten, R. J. Norby, J. Childs, D. Brice, R. M. Evans, L. Gu, P. Thornton, and D. J. Weston. 2012. "Timing and Magnitude of C Partitioning through a Young Loblolly Pine (*Pinus Taeda* L.) Stand Using ¹³C Labeling and Shade Treatments." *Tree Physiology* 32(6):799–813. doi: 10.1093/treephys/tpr129.
- Webster, C. C., and W. J. Baulkwill. 1989. *Rubber*. Webster C.C. and Baulkwill W.J. Harlow, Essex, England: Longman Scientific & Technical.
- Wigati, Sri, Maksudi Maksudi, and Abdul Latief. 2014. "Analysis of Rubber Leaf (*Hevea Brasiliensis*) Potency as Herbal Nutrition for Goats." *Food Security* 5.

- Yemm, E. W., and A. J. Willis. 1954. "The Estimation of Carbohydrates in Plant Extracts by Anthrone." *Biochemical Journal* 57(3):508–14. doi: 10.1042/bj0570508.
- Zhai, De-Li, and Jian-Chu Xu. 2023. "The Legacy Effects of Rubber Defoliation Period on the Refoliation Phenology, Leaf Disease, and Latex Yield." *Plant Diversity* 45(1):98–103. doi: 10.1016/j.pld.2022.01.003.
- Zhu, Jinheng, Jiyan Qi, Yongjun Fang, Xiaohu Xiao, Jiuhui Li, Jixian Lan, and Chaorong Tang. 2018. "Characterization of Sugar Contents and Sucrose Metabolizing Enzymes in Developing Leaves of *Hevea Brasiliensis*." Frontiers in Plant Science 9:1–11. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2018.00058.

778994390 KU iThesis 6017100068 thesis / recv: 14072566 00:57:08 / seq: 45
CURRICULUM VITAE

NAME	Miss Ornuma Duangngam
DATE OF BIRTH	7 November 1975
BIRTH PLACE	Chonburi, Thailand
ADDRESS EDUCATION	Center of Thai-French Cooperation on Higher Education and Research (DORAS Center) 3rd Floor, Research and Development Building, Kasetsart University. 50 Ngam Wong Wan Rd, Lat Yao, Chatuchak Bangkok 10900 MS (Agriculture) at Kasetsart University
WORK EXPERIENCE	Center of Thai-French Cooperation on Higher Education and Research (DORAS Center), Kasetsart University.